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1 Overview 

Executive Summary 
James Brown, pearler and tourism operator was appointed by the Minister as Chairperson 
of the Commission’s Board from 1 July 2019 and together the experienced and diversely 
skilled Board and Staff consolidated the Commission’s position as a small but highly 
capable organisation.  

The first half of the year saw the Commission forging ahead with many of its regional 
development partnership projects. The Kimberley Schools project ($25 million Royalties 
for Regions) designed to enhance educational outcomes across the Kimberley with 
twenty-three Schools participating in the project; the completion of Stage 1 of the 
Chinatown Revitalisation in Broome with Government committing a further $11.95 million 
to  Stage 2 of the project; advanced progress in planning Marine Infrastructure to suit all 
interests in Broome; ten grants provided to successful Regional Economic Development 
Scheme 2019 applicants totalling $655,946) and a myriad of other projects underway. 

To guide the Commission’s work in the next three years, a new Strategic Plan 2019-2021 
was finalised and agreed by the Board. Underpinning the Commission’s traditional strong 
performance in governance a complete review of corporate policies and plans was 
undertaken in 2019-2020. 

By the time the COVID-19 Pandemic was declared on 12 March 2020 the Commission 
was well prepared to support the Kimberley’s regional response to the State’s Emergency 
Plan. All staff had successfully trialled working from home and both Board and Staff were 
adept at meetings by video-conference. As the Kimberley, State and Shire boundaries 
were successively closed, the Commission reported to the Minister on a daily basis until 
mid-May and committed 100% of its resources to gathering regional intelligence from 
industry, community organisations and the primary emergency response agencies; WA 
Police Services, the Departments of Health and Communities to inform government 
decision making and facilitate policy solutions to emerging challenges. To name but a 
few, the Commission provided input into the early closure of the region’s borders, the 
Board resolved to support all Kimberley Chambers of Commerce with small grants to 
better equip them to support small businesses in the region and similarly provided small 
grants to the region’s Visitor’s Centres to ensure visitors to the region understood the 
COVID-19 restrictions in place and where to seek assistance.  

In early May, the Commission’s Board commenced planning to improve and support the 
region’s economic resilience and recovery. As the Kimberley and the State emerged from 
lockdown in June, the Commission swiftly refocussed its project work towards economic 
recovery initiatives and again providing advice to government to focus policy and financial 
effort. The Commission was also active in assisting potential applicants to prepare for the 
Regional Economic Development Scheme 2020 grants round which opened from 12 May 
to 7 July 2020. 
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Simultaneously, to inform its advocacy to Government, the Commission continued to 
liaise with stakeholders across the region and identify strategic opportunities for 
immediate and longer-term recovery support. In the last weeks of 2019-2020, the 
Commission made a submission to the Whole of Government Treasury submission, 
where it listed thirteen recovery projects consistent with initial pre-COVID priorities for 
the region and the reprioritised economic needs of the Kimberley.  
 
The impact of the Pandemic related restrictions on many of the Commission’s 
stakeholders was highlighted by reported high levels of consultation fatigue as peak 
bodies, regulators, financiers and government agencies began requesting constant 
streams of information. The Commission immediately recognised the risk to its strong 
relationships with key stakeholders most of whom were providing input to the 
Commission’s daily regional intelligence reports. Largely to mitigate this risk the 
Commission took the step of postponing its normal annual key stakeholder survey to 
reduce the administrative burden impost on its stakeholders. As a viable window in 
which to undertake the survey did not present itself as the COVID pandemic escalated, 
the Commission sought and was granted an exemption from the Under Treasurer to 
disclosing against its effectiveness Indicators in its Annual Report 2019/2020 to avoid 
being a further impost. Notwithstanding, the report on operations (page 18) offers 
testament to the effectiveness of the Commission’s service delivery and the 
Commission has, as required, disclosed its efficiency indicators that confirm the 
Commission’s continuing efficiency in service delivery. 
 
Having engaged a new Internal Auditor this year to undertake its Annual Internal Audit, 
the Commission was pleased to confirm that its high Internal audit rating had 
continued. This, plus the ongoing delivery of services within its budget is indicative of 
the Commission’s balanced and conservative approach to governance and corporate 
management.  
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Chairperson’s Report 
2020 is a year that will for obvious reasons stand out from others and is likely to be 
remembered by many as the beginning of our collective experience of living with 
COVID 19. The Pandemic quickly became a public health risk on a scale that made 
it apparent that the people of the Kimberley were and still are, some of the most 
vulnerable to health risks. I am proud to be able to report that the staff of the 
Commission (KDC) had a significant role in implementing the measures which to this 
point at least have kept our people relatively safe.  

The Commission dramatically pivoted its effort and resources to resist the outbreak, 
to help build social and economic resilience and to drive the recovery. I have been 
impressed with our organisation’s ability to efficiently, advise and communicate with 
government agencies, organisations, businesses and communities. Within days the 
KDC’s full resources were refocussed to provide daily regional intelligence reports to 
Government for much of the first two months of the pandemic. When swift and well-
informed responses were most important, the KDC played a key role in ensuring that 
Government at all levels was supported by relevant and accurate local intelligence. 
This valuable resource was widely recognised and eagerly sought out by 
departments, agencies and decision makers alike. It could only have come from an 
agency such as the Commission, that had the required deep networks and insightful 
analytical capability on the ground.     

But we should not forget that 2020 was about far more than the disruption of COVID-
19. Before the pandemic began KDC had a busy agenda and has been returning to
our previous tasks with renewed focus and vigour. More than ever building the social
and economic vitality of the Kimberley is of critical importance to its people.

With the support of our Minister, the Hon Alannah MacTiernan, the Commission has 
consistently supported the view that a good education is essential to realising the 
dreams of our young cross-cultural population, our families and our communities. 
Education is a vital precursor to a functional economy providing strong employment 
opportunities for its people. The Kimberley Schools Program (KSP), which promises 
to be the most impactful education program in a generation was conceived at our 
Board table. It has been implemented in partnership with the three education sectors 
and designed by leading education experts. Today, twenty-three Kimberley Schools 
are engaged and supported by the program. The passion with which their staff and 
communities are embracing the principles of KSP is further evidence that an 
enabling and inspiring education can be delivered in the Kimberley. KDC continues 
to work in close partnership with the Department of Education as it expands the 
Kimberley Schools Project, now in its third year.  

Similarly, the Commission’s work with partners such as Nyamba Buru Yawuru, 
Miriuwung Gajerrong, Wunan and the Department of Communities which has 
delivered 195 houses, 24 home-owning families (and counting), will continue to be 
an area of strategic focus for us. 

More recently and on a different scale we have been working with the Shire of 
Broome and Development WA to complete Stage 2 of the Chinatown Revitalisation 
project in Broome, driven a project to ensure visitors, businesses and communities 
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on the Dampier Peninsula benefit from the sealing of the Dampier Peninsula road, 
assisted in restoring regional air services, worked with Regional Economic 
Development grant recipients as they implement their projects and progressed 
Kununurra’s development planning. Importantly, we look forward to delivering the 
Government’s local content and buy local initiatives to diversify business and 
industry and especially to assist people rebuild hope, businesses, job prospects and 
prosperity. 

All of this work continues the central theme of our strategic plan for the region which 
clearly identifies the link between social outcomes and economic outcomes. 

2020 has not been without its internal challenges as the working relationship 
between the Department of Regional Development and Primary Industry and the 
Commission tries to reflect the Machinery of Government changes of 2017. We have 
striven to be productive and focussed during this period as considerable resources 
are devoted to seeking better administrative outcomes in support of our operations. It 
is extremely pleasing to see a Service Level Agreement completed to support our 
working relationship and I am confident that it will allow both organisations to be 
more efficient and effective.   

Throughout 2020 and especially since March, the Commission has demonstrated its 
ability to work collaboratively with focus, respect and diligence. These qualities, 
together with our usual resilience and perseverance will be crucial as we continue to 
find opportunities in our challenges and show case the potential of the Kimberley. 

Mr James Brown 
Chairperson 
Date: 2 September 2020 
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The Kimberley Region 

The Kimberley’s complex landscape represents one sixth of Western Australia’s land 
mass and is equivalent to twice the size of Victoria. The National Native Title Tribunal has 
recently advised that 93.5% of the Kimberley land area now comprises Native Title lands 
where Native Title rights and interests have been recognised.  

Remote and sparsely populated, the Kimberley’s estimated 36,000 residents, with equal 
numbers of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people, live across its four Local Government 
Areas in six small towns and 150 Aboriginal Communities. The population is 
predominantly young and culturally rich. The Traditional Owners of the Kimberley are 
primary partners in regional development and their knowledge and perspective is 
invaluable.  

The natural landscape varies between broad Savannah grasslands, rugged ranges, 
spectacular tropical gorge country and long golden beaches. This natural environment is 
a prime asset of the region, recognised for its intrinsic value and sustainable economic, 
social and cultural opportunities. 

Climatically, the Kimberley is characterised by its distinct wet and dry seasons. During 
the wet season from October to March, tropical rains, high humidity and intermittent 
cyclones can produce some of the highest rainfalls seen in Australia and provide annual 
mobility and access challenges for people and businesses. The dry season, a cooler and 
substantially less humid time of year, between April and September, is usually a time of 
peak activity for the region’s communities and main industries of agriculture (including the 
pastoral sector and aquaculture), tourism and associated retail. These industries together 
with the resources sector and construction were the primary industry contributors toward 
a Gross Regional product of $3.086 billion in 2019 (that is 1% of the States Domestic 
Product of $285.6 billion). 

More than 3,000 kilometres from the State’s capital Perth, the Kimberley is highly reliant 
on effective transport and communication networks. It is equally reliant on the flexibility, 
resilience and innovation of its people; these attributes have combined with increasing 
regional capacity and leadership and sound relationships with Government to both realise 
regional development outcomes and more recently assist withstand the significant impact 
of the COVID-19 Pandemic and associated restrictions on regional businesses and 
industry.  
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Operational Structure 
This section includes the Commission’s legislative base, responsible Minister, 
organisational structure and Board Member profiles.  

Within the new Public Sector structure and with the establishment of the Department of 
Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) in 2017, the Kimberley 
Development Commission, similarly to other Regional Development Commissions, has 
remained a separate entity and Statutory Authority. However, since 1 July 2017, the 
Commission’s staff complement apart from the Chief Executive has been employed by 
DPIRD. 

Enabling Legislation 

The Commission is a Western Australian Statutory Authority that was established under 
the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 (as amended) and is subject to the 
provisions of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.  

Statutory Objectives and Functions 

The objectives of the Kimberley Development Commission, as defined in Section 23 (1) 
of the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993, are to: 

• maximise job creation and improve career opportunities in the region;
• develop and broaden the economic base of the region;
• identify infrastructure services to promote economic and social development within

the region;
• provide information and advice to promote business development within the

region;
• seek to ensure that the general standard of government services and access to

those services in the region is comparable to that which applies in the metropolitan
area; and

• generally take steps to encourage, promote, facilitate and monitor the economic
development in the region.

Responsible Minister 

The Commission is responsible to the Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC Minister for 
Regional Development; Agriculture and Food; Ports; Minister Assisting the Minister for 
State Development, Jobs and Trade.  
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Reporting Structure 

As an accountable authority, the Commission advises the Minister on matters affecting 
the development of the region and its Board sets the strategic directions for the 
Commission. 

Parliament 

Minister for Regional Development; Agriculture and Food; 
Ports; Minister Assisting the Minister for State 

Development, Jobs and Trade 

Procured 
External 

Assistance 

The Kimberley Development Commission 

Board  
Chief Executive  

KDC Advisory Committees (appointed as required) 

Assistance of 
Other 

Government 
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Department of Primary Industries and 

Regional Development Staff  

11 

-
1 r 
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Board Profiles

Consistent with the Regional Development Commission’s Act 1993 and the Regional 
Development Commissions Amendment Regulations 2017, the Kimberley Development 
Commission’s Board, which is appointed by the Minister, comprises: 

• two members representing the regional Community;
• two members representing Local Government;
• two members appointed at the Minister’s discretion; and
• the Kimberley Development Commission’s Chief Executive.

At 30 June 2020, the Members of the Board were: 

Mr James Brown, Chairperson 

Community representative – appointed 2016 - term expires 2020 

Profile 

Mr Brown is a long-term resident of the Kimberley and third 
generation of his family to call Cygnet Bay home. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science, Marine Biology from James Cook 
University and his business experience ranges from commercial 
marine, aquaculture, jewellery manufacturing, retail, commercial 
property development, to hospitality and tourism, primarily from 
working in the Kimberley pearling industry since the 1990’s.  

He is the Managing Director of Cygnet Bay Pearls and Pearls of 
Australia, and the founder/lead field scientist of the Kimberley Marine Research Station 
(KMRS) that facilitates broad scale independent marine research on the Kimberley Coast 
and has contributed to the State governments 30M Kimberley Marine Research Project 
and the establishment of the Kimberley Aquaculture Zone in Cone Bay.  

He has served on the Board of the Broome Shire Economic Development and Advisory 
Committee, Broome Visitors Centre, Broome Tourism Leadership Group and he is a 
current Board Member of Cruise Broome and an active member of several Pearling and 
Fisheries advisory committees. He is also an Ambassador for WA Save the Children. 

Mr Brown offers strong leadership, experience and ‘change management’ gained from 
his involvement and transformation of his family owned pearling business and from his 
active involvement in the broader pearling and tourism industries and community. He is 
committed to economic development in the Kimberley, driven through strategies created 
and embraced by the people of the Kimberley.  
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Cr Geoff Haerewa, Deputy Chairperson 

Local Government representative – appointed 2018 – term expires 2020 

Profile 

As a long-term resident of Derby and business owner for over 20 
years, Geoff has a strong understanding of the socio-economic 
dynamic across the Kimberley region. Geoff believes his time 
spent as a business owner equipped him with the tools to 
understand the importance of the economy as it contributes to 
social outcomes for the community. 

Geoff has been actively involved in organisations that 
complement his business activities and give him exposure to the 
broader view of how economic and community development must work cohesively. In the 
past decade, some of his involvement in the community includes contributions in a 
volunteer capacity to organisations such as Derby Chamber of Commerce, Derby Squash 
Club, and Derby District High School.    

In his role as the Derby Shire President, Geoff is required to work with a wide cross-
section of people and organisations to identify real needs and possibilities to progress the 
Kimberley region. Geoff would like to see the Kimberley region develop through structured 
processes of consultation that are transparent, efficient and ultimately enable 
development to occur within regulatory frameworks in a timely manner. 

Cr Desiree Male, Member 

Local Government representative – appointed 2020 – term expires 2023 

Profile 

Cr Male and her family are long term residents of Broome where 
she is the Director and Proprietor of three separate businesses; 
Male & Co Pty Ltd; Male & Co Financial Services & Male & Co 
Accounting Services since 2008. Serving as a Councillor, Shire of 
Broome since 2009, Desiree was appointed to the position of 
Deputy President, Shire of Broome in 2018. 

With qualifications including a Bachelor of Business (Accounting 
& Information Systems) and Diploma of Financial Services (RG 
146), Desiree has completed CPA and CFP programs, holds an 
Australian Taxation License and has substantial experience in 
both the public practice and commercial environments. She has a diverse range of skills 
from taxation specialisation to staff and client management and her business focus is on 
providing better advice for clients on tax, superannuation and insurance. 
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In her various roles, Cr Male hopes to assist Kimberley businesses reach their full 
potential and is committed to working with the Kimberley Community to shape the 
future of the region. 

 
Cecilia Gore-Birch, Member 
Ministerial representative – appointed 2018 – term expires 2021 
 
Profile 

Ms Cissy Gore-Birch is a Jaru/Kija woman with connection to 
Balanggarra, Nyikina and Bunuba country. She holds a Graduate 
Diploma in Natural Resource Management and has worked in the 
Aboriginal land management and community development sectors 
for the past twenty years. Currently, Ms Gore-Birch is employed 
as the National Aboriginal Engagement Manager at Bush Heritage 
Australia. 

With a strong leadership background in the Kimberley and 
Australia, Ms Gore Birch’s current appointments include; 
Chairperson, Aarnja Pty Ltd, Chairperson of the North Australian Indigenous Land and Sea 
Management (NAILSMA), recently appointed member of the Threatened Species Scientific 
Committee, Committee member of the Northern Environment Scientific Programme (NESP) 
– Northern & Threatened Species Recovery Hub – Indigenous Reference Group and former 
appointments held include: Chairperson, Balanggarra Aboriginal Corporation (2010-2014), 
Director, Kimberley Land Council and Councillor, Shire of Wyndham East Kimberley. 

Ms Gore-Birch has been and continues to advocate for the social, cultural, environmental 
and economic advancement and wellbeing of Aboriginal people through a fair & equitable 
process. 

 
Mrs Kalyn Fletcher, Member 
Community representative – appointed 2018 – term expires 2021 
 
Profile 
 
Mrs Fletcher brings a strong business understanding and 
experience in both tourism and agriculture to the Board. 
With this background, she has held the position of 
Managing Director, RB Dessert Seed Company/Hoochery 
Distillery in the Ord River Irrigation Area since 2005. She 
has Bachelor degrees in Agribusiness and also 
Environmental Production Horticulture. In 2014, Kalyn 
received the prestigious Rural Industries Research and 
Development Corporation (RIRDC) Women’s Award WA 
and in 2015 was a runner up in the RIRDC Rural Women’s Award National Finals. 
She has completed the Australian Institute of Company Directors Company Director 
Course. 
 
Focusing on the development of a strong regional economy based on tourism, 
agriculture and mining, Mrs Fletcher is keen to see a balanced approach achieved 
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through consultation and collaboration that will benefit the entire regional community. 
She considers that long term strategic planning and direction is paramount to 
successful development which leads to strong job prospects and efficient education 
and health services. 
 
 
Mrs Kira Fong OAM, Member     
 
Ministerial representative – appointed 2019 – term expires 2022 
 
Profile 
 
Ms Fong is the Chief Operations Officer at Goolarri Media 
Enterprises, Broome. With an overaching interest in 
leadership and advancing young people, Ms Fong has 
served as Secretary, Country Arts WA (2011-2014), 
Chairperson Cable Beach Primary School (2015-2019), 
Chairperson Broome Cluster of Independent Public 
Schools (2018-2019) and has a history of achievements in 
promoting Aboriginal well being. 
 
Ms Fong has a background in events management and 
leadership development with qualifications in management and accredited training. 
She owned and operated Niche Events between 1997 and 2003. Building on her 
early experience Ms Fong founded the high profile Kimberley Girl program in 2004 
designed to build confidence and capacity in young Aboriginal women. As the 
program has expanded beyond the Kimberley as the Young Indigenous Women’s 
Pathways Project, Ms Fong continues to maintain a strong involvement through her 
current position with Goolarri Media. 
 

Mr Jeff Gooding – Member, Ex Officio  

Chief Executive 
 
Profile 
 
Mr Gooding has held the position of Chief Executive of the 
Kimberley Development Commission since the Commission’s 
establishment and is a Member of the Board of the 
Commission. He is a long term resident of Kununurra and the 
Kimberley, has qualifications in town and regional planning, is 
a graduate and fellow of the Australian Rural Leadership 
Foundation, Member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and is a Justice of the Peace and former Shire 
Councillor. 
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Having participated in the negotiation processes which culminated in several key Native 
Title Agreements, Mr Gooding continues to be substantially involved in related 
implementation including as a Director of the Miriuwung Gajerrong Community 
Foundation. He has been closely involved in the development, and initial implementation, 
of the Ord/East Kimberley Expansion Project and associated Land Releases. 

Other strategic regional leadership roles include membership of a range of Regional 
Planning processes and Chairman or member of various regional steering and 
coordinating groups, including the Northwest Aboriginal Housing Steering Committee, the 
Kimberley Schools Project Regional Leadership Group and the Chinatown Revitalisation 
Steering Committee. Mr Gooding is also a member of the WA Regional Development 
Alliance. 

Most recently, Mr Gooding has worked with the State Government and other regional 
leaders to plan the Kimberley regional response to the COVID-19 Pandemic and regional 
economic recovery. 

Advisory Committees 

The Board is empowered to appoint advisory committees to assist in providing specialist 
advice to the Board. These committees which are established on an “as needs” basis, 
currently include the Risk Management and Audit Sub-Committee and the Kimberley 
Aviation Tourism Development Committee.  

Senior Officers 

Mr Jeff Gooding, PSM, Assoc. T&RP, JP, Chief Executive 

Mr Gooding has a background in planning and extensive regional development and 
leadership experience gained through the WA Public Sector and involvement with 
regional industry and community.  

Mr Tim Bray, BSc. B. Comm. (Hons), Director, Regional Planning & Projects 
Delivery 

Mr Bray has extensive experience in business, finance, and project management in the 
private and public sector. He has worked in regional development in the Kimberley for 
eleven years.  
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Legislation impacting on the Commission’s Activities 

In performing its regional development functions, the Commission has complied with the 
following legislation: 

• Regional Development Commissions Act 1993
• Public Sector Management Act 1994
• Financial Management Act 2006
• Auditor General Act 2003
• Royalties for Regions Act 2009
• Contaminated Sites Act 2003
• Disability Services Act 1993
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984
• Freedom of Information Act 1992
• Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986
• Government Employees Housing Act 1964
• Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987
• Industrial Relations Act 1979
• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
• Salaries and Allowances Act 1975
• State Records Act 2000
• State Supply Commission Act 1991
• Workers Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981
• Legal Deposit Act 2012

The Commission also exercises controls which provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of monies, the acquisition and disposal of public 
property and incurring of liabilities are in accordance with legislative provisions. 

At the date of signing this Annual Report, the Commission is not aware of any 
circumstances that would render the particulars included in this statement misleading or 
inaccurate. 
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Performance Management Framework 
Outcome Based Management Framework 

The Commission’s Performance Management Framework comprises its Statutory 
Objectives described in the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 as outlined 
earlier and the Government of Western Australia’s Priorities.  

Further to the Machinery of Government changes and the consequent establishment of 
the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD), since 1 July 
2017 the Commission has received funding via DPIRD eliminating the need for a 
Resource Agreement as previously required. The Commission’s financial and human 
resource services are largely provided by DPIRD and to ensure transparency and 
accountability in both, the Commission in partnership with other Regional Development 
Commissions has worked intensively with DPIRD to develop a Service Level Agreement 
(SLA) for the delivery of these services. The Minister for Regional Development signed 
the agreed Service Level Agreement on 12 August 2020. 

At the outset of this extraordinary year the Commission remained committed to achieving 
its Desired Outcome through the delivery of two high level services/result areas and to 
contributing to Government’s Priorities. Both are described below.  

However, as the year progressed and the COVID-19 Pandemic was declared on 12 
March 2020, the focus of the Commission and State Government’s strategy necessarily 
changed toward minimising the impact of the Pandemic in the Kimberley and Western 
Australia. Given the impact of a Customer Survey on stakeholders already under stress 
the Commission decided to postpone this exercise which in turn prevented reporting 
against the Commission’s Effectiveness Indicators. The Commission therefore requested 
and was granted an exemption from disclosing against its Effectiveness KPIs in this 
Annual Report. The Commission’s obligation to disclose against its Efficiency Indicators 
to measure its performance remained and has been fulfilled as required.  

The State Government also temporarily deferred its “Our Priorities: Sharing Prosperity” 
program while it focussed on its response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 

Government’s Priorities (program temporarily deferred at time of report) 
Taken from “Our Priorities: Sharing Prosperity” State of Western Australia 2019 

A Strong Economy 
Create jobs 
Repair the State’s finances 

A Bright Future 
Improve the health and wellbeing of children in the early years 
Increase student reading and numeracy 
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A Liveable Environment 
Increase conservation for future generations 
Make a cleaner and more sustainable environment 

 
A Safer Community 
 Reduce youth reoffending 

Reduce illicit drug use 
 

Aboriginal Wellbeing 
Reduce the overrepresentation of Aboriginal people in custody 
 

Regional Prosperity 
 Deliver stronger regional economies 

 
 
Kimberley Development Commission’s Desired Outcome and Service Areas 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework 
 
The Commission’s Outcome Based Management Framework has changed in 
2019/2020 to accommodate its response to the COVID-19 Pandemic and associated 
planning to support economic recovery in the Kimberley as described above and in its 
disclosure against its effectiveness Key Performance Indicators on page 67. 
 
Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies 
 
In accordance with the Regional Development Commissions Act 1993 Part 2 Division 
2 section 23 clause (1) (e) the Commission has responsibilities: “to ensure that the 
general standard of government services and access to those services in the region 
is comparable to that which applies in the metropolitan area”.  
 

Service 2 
The Commission will identify, co-ordinate 
and promote through its major strategies the 
establishment, improvement and 
diversification of the region’s infrastructure, 
industries and enterprises. 
 

Desired Outcome 
An environment conducive to the balanced economic and social development of the Kimberley 
region.  
 

Service 1 
The Commission will provide effective 
regional development policies and 
strategies together with accurate and 
accessible information on the region to 
facilitate and support the economic and 
social development of the region. 
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In the first half of the year, the Commission worked with a broad range of Government, 
Community and Industry stakeholders to progress a wide range of regional initiatives. 
This work is exemplified by partnership projects with: 

• the Department of Education, Independent Schools Association and Catholic
Education to implement the Kimberley Schools Project now with twenty-nine
participant Schools.

• the Department of Communities in the implementation of the NorthWest Aboriginal
Housing Fund initiative which has realised 23 of 100 new houses for Aboriginal
people in the Kimberley with a further 17 under construction through partnerships
with two Aboriginal building companies; MG Corporation Building and Kullarri
Building;

• Local Governments, Community Organisations and Small Business to develop
and implement Regional Economic Development Scheme funded projects across
the Kimberley; and

• Nyamba Buru Yawuru, the Shire of Broome and LandCorp (now Development WA)
in the Stage 2 Revitalisation of Chinatown, Broome.

Since March 2020, the Commission has worked in partnership with Government agencies 
to provide input to the State’s emergency response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 
Throughout this time the Commission also regularly liaised with industry and community 
stakeholders across the Kimberley to provide and facilitate support and ascertain 
emerging regional socio-economic issues to inform Government’s support.  

Whilst remaining alert to the continued risks of COVID-19 the Commission has now 
refocussed to support the region’s economic recovery.  
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2  Agency Performance 

Report on Operations 

This section draws on examples across the region to illustrate the Commission’s diverse 
activities and achievements in 2019/2020 in accordance with its Statutory responsibilities, 
Government’s priorities and the Commission’s Strategic Plan.   

Strategic Project Development (Government Priorities) 

Notwithstanding the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Commission has worked 
closely with the Minister for Regional Development and strategic partners toward 
achieving outcomes in the following initiatives:  

The Kimberley Schools Project 

The Kimberley Schools Project (KSP) is a collaboration between the Department of 
Education, Catholic Education Australia, the Association of Independent Schools 
Western Australia and the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development. 
It provides $25 million Royalties for Regions funding over five years to accelerate and 
intensify new and existing strategies to address low education outcomes in the Kimberley, 
underpinning broader economic and social development in the region.  

The KSP comprises four integrated pillars of activity: 
• Targeted Teaching – evidence-based literacy teaching strategies and quality

materials with frequent measurement of progress to inform planning and delivery;
• Better early years learning and care – community co-design initiatives that build

on and improve existing services and engage families as first teachers;
• Regular attendance – community partnerships to deliver strategies that aim to

resolve issues of non-attendance in particular communities;
• Increased student and community engagement – co-designed community

initiatives that build positive relationships between the schools and the community.

Implementation of these initiatives is enabled through interagency collaboration, 
leadership and in accordance with the Aboriginal Cultural Standards Framework; positive, 
deep rooted behaviors, attitudes and practices that lead to: 

• Culturally responsive leadership;
• Leadership focused on improving outcomes for all students;
• Teaching with high expectations and in ways that enable children to realise their

full potential; and
• A learning environment that is welcoming for students and reflects community

expectations for their children.
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To date, twenty-three schools have joined the KSP, equivalent to 4,428 students of which 
2,876 are Aboriginal.  

The North West Aboriginal Housing Fund 

Aboriginal home ownership (either outright or with a mortgage) accounts for less than 
17% of all estimated 3,080 owned dwellings in the Kimberley.  

In response to home ownership and affordability issues in the Kimberley, since 2008, the 
Commission has conceptualised and helped design and/or implement five Transitional 
Aboriginal Housing Projects delivering 195 houses and has expertise, recognised by 
government, in the sphere. 

The North West Aboriginal Housing Fund (NWAHF) is the fifth of these programs and 
was conceptualised by the Commission and designed in partnership with the former 
Regional Services Unit, Department of Communities. 

The WA State Budget 2019-20 approved the building of 50 additional transitional homes 
in Kununurra (30), Halls Creek (14) and Wyndham (6). The homes are funded by the 
$200 million NWAHF, where Kimberley Aboriginal building companies 
Miriuwung Gajerrong Corporation Building and Maintenance and Kullarri have engaged 
in the construction of the homes by employing Aboriginal apprentices.  

At the time of writing, the construction program was on target to be completed in June 
2021, with: 

• 23 houses having reached practical completion;
• 17 houses under construction;
• 3 houses are documented and ready for allocation;
• 4 houses are in the design stage and 3 lots awaiting typology/configuration.

The Commission continues to play an active role in the program design, economic and 
financial modelling of innovative Aboriginal housing programs in the Kimberley for the State. 
Recent results include more than 24 Aboriginal families progressing from these programs 
to home ownership in the past 4 years and another in the next 12-18 months.    

Page 19 of 80



Local Content 

The Commission’s Local Content Adviser has continued to act as a conduit between 
Government procurement activities and local Kimberley businesses to positively influence 
participation and capability in the region. Whilst maintaining communication to a broad 
network of stakeholders across the Kimberley, the Local Content Adviser has been able 
to effectively promote upcoming opportunities, as well as collaborate with other agencies 
and service providers to develop initiatives to build capacity across the region. Examples 
of this work include:  

• acting on feedback from local businesses;
• leading in advocacy for change in tender requirements to better suit the local

supply chain for that project;
• developing a guide for Regional and Aboriginal Business Engagement; and
• accessing Regional Local Content Initiative funding to develop a program aimed

at increasing Kimberley business competitiveness by reducing regional business
expenditure.

Dampier Peninsula Activation 

The State/Commonwealth funded sealing of the final 90 kilometres of the Dampier 
Peninsula Road ($12.5 million State and $52.5 million Commonwealth commitments) is 
on target to be completed by November 2020. The sealing of the road is anticipated to be 
a catalyst for a range of opportunities and challenges for residents and communities of 
the Peninsula. The State Government has established a governance structure, for which 
the Minister for Regional Development is the lead Minister, to enable a coordinated 
approach to the economic development and the impact mitigation strategies associated 
with the upgrade of the road. The Commission is playing a key leadership role in 
partnership with the Department of Premier and Cabinet, other agencies and Native Title 
Holders. This is with the ultimate aim of: 

• facilitating new economic opportunities in partnership with Traditional Owners; and
• managing the impacts on the Communities, the environment and infrastructure

from increased visitors on the Peninsula.

The Commission has secured funding of $3.9 million toward: 
• construction and upgrading of day-use facilities, for example ablutions and shade,

at key community locations;
• in partnership with Main Roads WA, assisted in the upgrading of two key tracks to

provide essential safe visitor access to two key Aboriginal tourism enterprises;
Kooljaman Resort at Cape Leveque and the hatchery at Ardyaloon.

• facilitating business enterprise support for new and emerging Aboriginal business
ventures on the Peninsula; and

• installation of signage and fencing to protect areas of cultural significance and
private property at risk from increased visitation.
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State Government Commitments to the Fitzroy River 

The Fitzroy River (“the River”) is the largest in the West Kimberley region and diverse 
views and interests exist around its potential to diversify and generate income in the 
Kimberley region. In 2017, the WA State Government made a range of election 
commitments involving the future of the River and its catchment, including the creation of 
a national park, the preparation of a management plan and a suitable development 
strategy. The Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) is 
one of the lead agencies working to implement election commitments made.   

Within this context, the Commission has provided a regional perspective in the 
consultation stages of the Government’s commitments in relation to the River. This is with 
a view to remaining supportive of the needs to protect the health of the river while 
providing for sustainable socio-economic development. 

Consultation on the River commitments has been paused as the COVID-19 response 
required full attention from the State Government, Aboriginal communities, and other 
stakeholders. However, consultation is set to resume in 2020, subject to developments in 
the public health response to COVID-19 and readiness of Aboriginal communities and 
stakeholders to proceed. 

Warmun Garrenbawoorroom-boorroo Daam Aged Care Facility Remediation 
Project 

Following severe flood damage at Warmun to the Walumba Aged Care Service in 2011, 
a $12 million aged care facility, Garrenbawoorroom-boorroo Daam, was built to replace 
it. Because the facility has since only been used for occasional ad hoc respite care due 
to the lack of a compliant aged care service provider, some of the essential service 
infrastructure (plumbing and electrical supply especially) has deteriorated. In 2019, the 
Government committed $500,000 to the remediation of the existing and underutilised 
aged care facility in Warmun Community with the Kimberley Development Commission 
appointed to provide project management and governance support. 

The remediation project will restore the functionality of the Garrenbawoorroom-boorroo 
Daam aged care facility to its original National Construction Code Class 3 and 
concurrently contribute to it reaching the higher Class 9c and its subsequent 
operationalisation, which is concurrently being planned by the Commonwealth in 
partnership with Warmun Community. These collaborative works will enable: 

• enhanced local aged care service delivery for Warmun residents;
• broadening of the economic base for Warmun through avenues that include aged

care support, National Disability Insurance Scheme services, local commercial
catering, housekeeping and laundry services;

• improved career opportunities through the above.

In addition to planning for operationalization with the Warmun Community, the 
Commonwealth Department of Health has also undertaking the bulk of the planning for 
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the upgrade of the facility to the new residential aged care facility standard (National 
Construction Code: Class 9c).  

Industry Diversification 

In the last year the Commission has continued to work with the Agriculture industry to 
support irrigated agricultural developments in the West Kimberley and the Ord River 
Irrigation Area and also Government’s planning for a new Western Australian Tropical 
Agricultural Research Institute (WATARI) in Broome. 

To inform its support for industry diversification initiatives and regional investment and 
advocacy to Government, the Commission has throughout the year referred to the 
Australian Stock Exchange information to generate a Kimberley Economic Watchlist for 
internal use. 

In May, the Commission provided small grants totalling $30,000 to the three Kimberley 
Chambers of Industry to support their operations during the Pandemic. 

The Commission has also worked with the Kimberley Tourism Industry to supports its 
recovery from the substantial impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic. The seasonality of the 
industry (April to September) means that many operators will have less than three months 
income in eighteen months. To support tourism and enable Kimberley Visitors Centres to 
provide Kimberley specific critical travel advice to visitors, the Commission provided small 
grants of $5,000 to the smaller and $10,000 to the larger Centres totalling $40,000 in 
early June. 

Resources and Energy sector support and development 

The resources sector in the Kimberley provides a significant contribution to the regional 
domestic product (23% that is $704 million) and is one of the region’s main employers. 
To maximise regional benefits the Commission assists resource companies and potential 
investors by providing a regional perspective regarding the advantages of localisation and 
Aboriginal employment.  

With the imminent planned closure of the Argyle Diamond Mine Underground Project 
(mining originally commenced in the open cut mine in 1986), the Commission has and 
continues to work with the Gelganyem Trust and Argyle to provide regional input into the 
planning for potential options for the mine site which under the Indigenous Land Use 
Agreement between Argyle Diamonds and Mirriwung and Kija Traditional Owners will 
benefit the latter. 

The COVID-19 Pandemic has seen the Northern Minerals Browns Range Project (rare 
earth) and Panoramic Resources Savannah Nickel Mine enter care and maintenance. 
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The Commission has maintained a watching brief on the resources sector and provides 
input to support the companies as required and advocacy to Government. 

Recognising the value of the region’s solar power resources and the potential regional 
employment opportunities, the Commission has provided a regional perspective to 
Horizon Power’s solar program ($11.6 million) to install solar farms and energy storage 
into six Aboriginal Communities in the central Kimberley. The project will reduce power 
supply costs, carbon dioxide emissions (by 2,000 tonnes a year) and provide employment 
in the construction and operational phases.  

Lift and Normalise Aboriginal economic development 

The Commission is committed to working with Aboriginal individuals and groups to not 
only support them in protecting their culture but also to participate and operate effectively 
in the mainstream economy.  

A major part of this work has focussed on enhancing Aboriginal education through the 
Kimberley Schools project and incentivising School attendance and employment through 
the North West Housing project to provide a strong foundation for families and their 
communities. The Commission conceptualised both projects and whilst they are now lead 
respectively by the Department of Education and Department of Communities, the 
Commission continues to provide guiding input. 

There are thirty-four Aboriginal pastoral leases across the Kimberley which together 
comprise a third of all pastoral leases in the region. To build business capacity and 
leadership across these enterprises, the Commission has worked with the Aboriginal 
Pastoral Industry to implement the Aboriginal Pastoral Industry Participation project the 
findings of have informed the current land tenure and pastoral lands reforms. 

As described in the Strategic Project Development section of this report, the Commission 
has also continued to have substantial involvement in the Dampier Peninsula Activation 
project and the Chinatown, Broome revitalisation project Stage 2. Both projects offer 
social and economic development opportunities for the respective Bardi and Yawuru 
Traditional Owners. A wide spectrum of COVID recovery initiatives have been scoped in 
the last months of 2019-2020 which are expected to significantly drive the Commission’s 
agenda in future months and years.   

Normalise regional living standards 

The Kimberley is a highly attractive region in which to live, however the six relatively small 
towns of the Kimberley (Broome is the largest with a population of around 14,000 and 
Wyndham the smallest with less than 1,000 residents) often lack the economies of scale 
required and rate payer base to underpin common user infrastructure and community 
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amenities and their subsequent maintenance. The Commission therefore often works with 
the four Kimberley Shires and other Agencies to facilitate funding and development of 
both common user infrastructure and amenities.  

In the last financial year this work has included partnering the Department of Transport, 
Shire of Broome and the Kimberley Ports Authority in the planning and development of 
Broome Marine Infrastructure; including the Kimberley Marine Supply-base and small 
neighbouring launching facility, improved Entrance Point ramps and the Town Beach 
Jetty and Precinct Project.   

Similarly, the Commission has worked with the Department of Transport the four 
Kimberley Shires and Aviation Companies to maintain its regional air services on which 
the region is significantly dependent for business, freight, access to specialist medical 
care, maintaining family connections and education. With the onset of the COVID-19 
Pandemic and the decline in air-services, the Commission has worked with its partners 
to maintain adequate services with schedules to match demand.  

To improve the liveability of a remote community, the Commission has partnered Warmun 
Community Incorporated (WCI) to address structural impediments to maximise the use 
of the Warmun Aged Care Facility and enable more people to age comfortably in their 
Community. The State Government has committed $500,000 for the necessary 
remediation plumbing and electrical works.   

Through its grants rounds, the Commission has also funded regional initiatives, for 
example the Kimberley Girl program and the recently completed new purpose-built 
Neighbourhood House in Kununurra, which both enhance opportunities for residents. 

Organisational Excellence 

Differences in cultural expectation, the impact of remoteness, distance factors, sub-
tropical climate and high turnover of staff in government, industry and community sectors 
combine to impact on capacity and leadership in the Kimberley. 

The Commission which has a stable Board and workforce, is committed to not only 
maintaining a high level of integrity itself but also collaborating with a wide range of people 
and organisations across the region to support them in building capability, flexibility and 
innovation.  

To do this the Commission places emphasis on its own governance, corporate, risk and 
evidence-based project management and draws upon the diverse and high level skills 
and experience of its Board and Staff to enhance the Commission’s and the Kimberley’s 
performance and outcomes. For example, this approach has informed the Commission’s 
conceptualisation and role in the implementation of the Kimberley Schools Project. 
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Collecting and analysing regional data provides a reliable evidence base which the 
Commission uses itself in the development of its own projects and shares with Kimberley 
organisations to support their business and project planning and funding submissions.  

Regional Economic Development Scheme (REDS) 

The REDS grants program is a $28.8million (over five years) State Government initiative 
that invests in local projects to stimulate economic growth and development in regional 
Western Australia. The program is being progressively rolled out in five rounds and for 
the Kimberley this translates as approximately $640,000 each year distributed over five 
years ($3,206,000 in total). 

The 2019 RED Grants round offered funding of up to $250,000 for successful applications 
and opened in each region across the State between 22 July 2019 and 13 September 
2019. In the Kimberley component of the round, forty-six applications were received by 
the Commission and these collectively requested $6,370,234 approximately nine times 
the available funding. Further to a rigorous assessment process, eight grants listed below 
with a combined value of $776,832, were approved and announced by the Minister on 5 
March 2020. Having managed the regional implementation of the grants round in the 
Kimberley, the Commission has now established grant agreements with the proponents 
and will work as required to support project implementation. 

REDS (second round) Projects funded in 2019 comprised: 
Recipient: Shire of Halls Creek 

Project: Shire of Halls Creek - Indigenous Civil Training Group 
Allocation: RED 2019 $175,000 

Recipient: Kullarri Regional Communities Indigenous Corporation (KRCIC) 
Project: KRCIC Roadworks Maintenance & Traffic Management 

Allocation: RED 2019 $90,000 

Recipient: McKeno Corporation Pty Ltd 
Project: McKeno Tyrepave 

Allocation: RED 2019 $145,000 

Recipient: Magabala Books Aboriginal Corporation 
Project: Indigenous Publishing Cadetship 

Allocation: RED 2019 $78,664 

Recipient: Lombadina Aboriginal Corporation 
Project: Lombadina Tourism Amenities Upgrade 

Allocation: RED 2019 $194,000 

Recipient: Woolah Aboriginal Corporation 
Project: Doon Doon Caravan Park and Campground Entry, Signage and Amenity 

Page 25 of 80



Allocation: RED 2019 $45,000 

Recipient: Goolarri Media Enterprises 
Project: Kimberley Girl 2020 

Allocation: RED 2019 $81,000 

Recipient: Yeeda Pastoral Company Pty Ltd 
Project: Colourstone Public Access Truck Wash and Weighbridge 

Allocation: RED 2019 $95,000 

2018 grants still being administered include a campground project, facilities upgrades and 
agricultural projects.  It is envisaged that many of these projects will be complete by the 
end of 2020. 

At the time of this report a third round of REDs is underway, valued at $530,000 with the 
closing date for applications scheduled for 7 July 2020.  

COVID-19 Pandemic – KDC’s Response & Planning for Economic Recovery 

Further to the State declaring a State of Emergency and Public Health State of 
Emergency on 15 and 16 March respectively, the Kimberley border and its remote 
Aboriginal Community boundaries were closed under the Commonwealth Biosecurity Act 
2015. On the 2 April restrictions at the four Kimberley Local Government borders were 
also announced just prior to the closing of the WA State border. 

In these early weeks, the Commission quickly devoted 100% of its time to supporting and 
advocating to Government in its response, working with the four Kimberley Local 
Government Councils, Aboriginal and Industry leaders to support the regional Community 
as it came to terms with the uncertainty and challenges that prevailed. Not least of these 
was the impact of border closures on the seasonal Tourism and Hospitality industries and 
the retail and service sectors that rely on the swell of visitors between April and 
September each year to boost their incomes for the entire year.  Government’s decision 
to encourage Aboriginal people to return to their Communities resulted in an estimated 
8,000 people being resident in those 194 Communities in the weeks following border 
closures. Those people have been progressively returning to their home communities 
throughout the year.    

The Commission’s role and tasks included representing Regional Development 
Commissions on a new Working Group established by the State Pandemic Co-ordination 
Centre and lead by DPIRD, proactive participation as a Member of the Operational Area 
Support Group, providing regional input to the Department of Communities Taskforce that 
was managing remote Communities resupply, providing Kimberley food security 
intelligence to the State Food Security Working Group led by DPIRD, providing daily 
regional intelligence reports to the Minister and providing regular policy input to the 
Department of Premier and Cabinet’s Aboriginal Policy Unit.   
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Concurrently, to pitch its advocacy to government appropriately, the Commission 
monitored the Kimberley’s labour market conditions and employment, industry trends and 
impacts, air service levels and transport connections, postal services and a range of other 
impacted services and estimated that $700 million to $750 million may be wiped from the 
Kimberley economy over the next one to two years.  

The Minister refocussed the Regional Economic Development Scheme 2020 round to 
assist in the economic recovery and the Commission worked with potential proponents to 
ensure the funding would be optimised. 

Discussions around COVID-19 recovery proposals and initiatives in the Kimberley 
intensified as the gravity of the socio-economic impacts become apparent. Where 
feasible, the Commission has been involved with and influenced recovery discussions 
targeted at the upturn of economic activity.  

In June 2020, the Commission along with other agencies contributed to the Treasury’s 
assessment of COVID-19 recovery initiatives. Thirteen recovery projects consistent with 
initial pre-COVID priorities for the region with a combined value of approximately $422.05 
million were submitted from the Commission on behalf of the region. Should they proceed 
these initiatives will provide employment opportunities at implementation and beyond and 
will be led by various regional stakeholders. 

The Commission also engaged with Infrastructure WA to share eighteen regional 
infrastructure projects that would substantially boost the economic recovery if progressed.
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Actual Results versus Budget Targets 

Financial Targets 

2019/20 
Target (1) 
$ 

2019/20 
Actual 
$ 

Variation 
$ 

Total Cost of Services (expense limit) 
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income)  2,502    2,542  -40 (1)

Net Cost of Services  
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income)  2,502    2,391    111 (2)  

Total Equity 
(sourced from Statement of Financial 
Position)   1,854 1,325 -529 (3)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held 
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows) -1 -192 -191 (4)

Approved salary expense level 221 240 -19 (5)

1) Total cost of services is higher than the budget estimates (the 2020 Target) by $40,000.
This primarily relates to grants and subsidies paid ($116,000) offset by reduced
expenditure in the resources received free of charge resulting from delays in filling
vacant positions.

2) Net cost of services is lower than the budget estimates (2020 Target) by $111,000. This
primarily relates to the additional total cost of services above ($40,000) being offset by
grant funds returned from the Shire of Halls Creek ($151,000) following successful
completion of a funded project.

3) The variance of $529,000 in equity results from the actual opening equity being
$385,000 lower than forecast in the budget process, combined with the variance of
comprehensive income for the financial year versus budget of $144,000.

4) The decrease in cash in the period mainly relates to the reduction in budgeted cash
received from other State government agencies of approximately $196,000.

5) Variance in approved salary expense level arises from a minor understatement in the
approved budget.
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Working Cash Targets 

2019/20 
Agreed 
Limit 
$ 

2019/20 
Target (1) / 
Actual (2) 
$ 

Variation (3 
& 4) 

$ 
Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Budget) 25 25 N/A 

Agreed Working Cash Limit (at Actuals) 27 1,091 1,065 

1) Target to reflect the Commission’s anticipated working cash for the 2019-20 financial
year.

2) Actual is the actual working cash held at the close of the financial year.

3) Not applicable.

4) This variation is due to brought forward cash balance that is planned to be spent in
2020-21.
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3 Significant Issues Impacting the Commission 

Current and Emerging Issues and Trends 
Significant issues expected to continue impacting the Commission in 2019/2020 
include: 

• the need to support Aboriginal people in their economic advancement whilst
recognising the importance of Aboriginal cultural preservation;

• facilitating diversified regional investment that provides employment and
enterprise opportunities for regional industry and small business and assists in
the economic recovery of the Kimberley and the State;

• the socio-economic impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the region, especially
the tourism and hospitality sectors and the flow on effect to the retail sector and
services industries;

• the potential for the region to be further impacted by the COVID-19 Pandemic.

Economic and Social Trends 

• Prior to COVID-19, the Kimberley had an annual economy valued at $3 billion,
on track to create a minimum 1,600 jobs until 2024,tackle population decline (-
0.2% per annum) and unemployment (16.2%). The highest employment shares
of all estimated jobs (15,084) in the region were in Health Care & Social
Assistance (16%), followed by Education and Training (13%) and Tourism
(12%). In terms of output, Construction ($693 million), Tourism ($593 million)
and Mining ($558 million) were the sectors generating the highest levels of
gross revenue in the region.

• Annual Gross Regional Product, or the measure of our regional wealth, is
estimated to fall between 20 and 30%, from approximately $3 billion to $2.4
billion.

• High levels of diversity in the Kimberley economy have been key to softening
the impact of structural shifts experienced by Australia in these difficult times.
Although all industries in the region have been impacted to various degrees,
Tourism (including Accommodation & Food services, Retail Trade, Arts, and
Transport), and Construction have been identified as the industries most
impacted by COVID-19 restrictions, both in terms of employment
numbers and value-add.

• Of note in the Kimberley retail landscape is the announcement of the closure of
the Target Country store in Kununurra to occur in early mid-2021. Part of the
Wesfarmers group and the only department store in the East Kimberley, the
closure process has been accelerated by the pandemic. Target is one of the
major real estate tenants in the town of Kununurra, and at this stage there are
no plans to fill the void to be left by the retailer in terms of goods and services,
jobs orvalue-add to the region.
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• At the onset of the pandemic, Kimberley tourism businesses were mostly
emerging from the normal wet season shutdown where income is low to nil. The
regional model is one where operators are geared toward a tight window of
revenue potential, primarily from April through to October. The timing of the
COVID-19 epidemic and subsequent shut down means that many operators
will have little or no income for up to 15 months (or more depending on the path
under which we emerge from the pandemic). Few businesses have the
reserves to survive such an extended period of restricted income, despite the
support by Commonwealth and WA State Government.

• Discussions on regional economic recovery have been occurring against a
backdrop of global uncertainty, where analyses for 2020 estimate changes in
price levels and cost of living, and deteriorating labour market conditions for the
Kimberley region. To illustrate, for May 2020, total Kimberley employment was
estimated at 12,817 jobs, a fall of 15% from 15,084 jobs, bringing the
Kimberley’s unemployment rate to the region of 20% alongside falling levels of
participation.

• Construction is the sector with the highest economic output in the Kimberley
region and remains adversely impacted by the COVID closure of many
Communities, mostly limited to ‘life threatening’ repairs.  Building approvals, a
key leading indicator of economic activity, showed a pipeline of less than 50
approvals in the 2019- 2020 financial year, valued at approximately $70 million
(as opposed to 186 approvals for the same period in the 2017). This is in line
with a broader declining trend in the number of building approvals and housing
prices across Australia and Regional WA. However, recent measures
announced by the State Government in June 2020 are expected to boost the
sector by addressing some of the unmet regional demand for social housing
and associated services.

• The Commission continues to monitor projects likely to lift activity levels in the
region, having identified a minimum 40 initiatives among Local, State and
Commonwealth Government infrastructure works and private investments.
Australian Exchange (ASX) listed companies operating in the Kimberley,
including those under care and maintenance, remain engaged in capital raising
to strengthen cash flow targeted at project continuity.

• Recent capital attractions include Sea Farms, to ensure stability of capital works
on Legune Station and Project Sea Dragon (PSD) contractual commitments,
and Northern Minerals, which raised $9.98 million to continue to develop its
Brown Range project. Agrimin, a minerals company, has been granted Major
Project status by the Commonwealth for its Kimberley Lake MacKay Potash
project (Sulphate of Potash fertiliser). This means Agrimin will receive additional
Commonwealth support as it advances operations and contributes to the
economic diversification of the region.

• Before COVID-19, the Kimberley was on average 15.6 % more expensive to
live in than Perth. It is expected that an increase in the level of businesses
failure may reduce competition, which coupled with a paucity of substitutes

-
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could see the rise of overall price levels, particularly in the retail sector as well 
as transport services.  

• Despite stimulus measures by various tiers of Government, the unique profile
of the region means that several businesses continue to face uncertainty
compounded by complex social issues, some ineligibility for incentives such as
JobKeeper (particularly for seasonal tourism employees), as well as those
incentives linked to turnover requirements. To illustrate, as at April 2020, over
30% of all estimated Kimberley businesses reported registering Job Keeper
payments, with the highest proportion of access in Broome (43%).

Changes in Written Law 
There were no changes in written law in 2019/2020 that impacted the Commission. 

Likely Developments & Forecast Results of 
Operations 

In 2020/2021 it is anticipated that the Commission will build on the collective and 
diverse skills and experience of its Board and Staff to support economic recovery in 
the Kimberley further to the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic and associated 
restrictions. 

Building on its strong foundation of governance and corporate management, the 
Commission will refocus on strategic projects already underway and work with project 
partners to maximise the benefits for the region. These strategic initiatives include but 
will not be limited to the: 

• Kimberley Schools Project that is yielding positive results and will equip the
regions young population for the future;

• North West Aboriginal Housing project that is providing local business and
increasing the region’s stock of high quality Aboriginal housing;

• Chinatown revitalisation stage 2 that offers employment and business and will
assist lift the tourism sector;

• Dampier Peninsula Activation project that will ensure that Dampier Peninsula
Communities benefit from the sealing of the Cape Leveque road and
simultaneously provides enhanced options for tourism and positions the
Communities to benefit from that tourism;

• Third round of the Regional Economic Development grants scheme that has
been designed to assist in the recovery.

This project work will be complemented by: 
• data collection and analysis to both monitor the region’s economic recovery and

identify areas of continuing need; and
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• continual liaison with Government, Industry and Community to identify
investment, infrastructure and service opportunities to boost the regional
economy and strengthen the regional Community.
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4 Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Opinion of the Auditor General 
(Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators) 

Auditor General 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

Report on the financ::ittl statements 

Opin;on 
I have audited the financial statements of the Kimberley OP.vP.lop.ment Cornmii.s on which c:orr.prise 
the Statement of i:·1nancial Position as at 30 June 2{120. the Statement of Comprehensive lnoone. 
Statement of Ch,:mges in Eql.ity, Stl-Jle-nenl of Ca~h Flows rorlh~ yi:..ar then el'lded. Sumn,9r)' of 
Consolidated Account Appropriations and Notes comprising a s.1nmary of signifi<::Mt ao:::ounting 
polici,e$ c1nd olhw1 axplart;;i101'J infonnatiQrl. 

In my opinion. II'& financ!al statomcnts arc bascC on proper accounts and present fai;ly, in all materi~I 
respects, the operating result.-, and ca~h flows :1f :h~ KirM:AtlAy oawlop·na,r,t Commlssl-on for th& yi:?..'lr 
;;.nd&d 30 June 202~ and the financial position at the end of that period. The)' are in aoc:::rdanoe with 
Austral an Aocounting St~n::t~:ds, the Fi11am;ia,' Mao~m,m! Ac! 2il06 and thG Treasurer's 
hl$1ructicns. 

Basis for opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsiliilijies under 
those s.tt1ndard~ ;m~ furthw :tffsc:ri~ in t1e Au~ltor's Responslblltty for the Audit of tho Financial 
Statemcrits section of my report. I am independent of the C(lmmis~ion in eicx:orril:lnr.P. with :he Aoditor 
Gent,r;~r A<.:i 2006 and Ult: r&IEw~nt &th cal rGquiremen1s of the Acoounting Professional ard Ethical 
Standards Board's APES i 1 O Code of Eini<;s for Pro"'s,,;,r,,,a, Ar,co,mhmls (the Code} IMI a re 
ral~v~nl lo my audit of th& fil)anclal sta:ements. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance wijh the Cede. I believe lhal lh(:I ~ut.Jil &vidQllCQ I hav~ obtained is sufficient ard 
approptiatc to ~rovide a basis for my opinion, 

Responsibility of the Board for the fin8ncial statements 
Th& Board Is raspcnsible for keeping ~roper accounts. and the preparation and fair pr~r.lation cf 
the financial st~emenls in <3C'A/.ltdance with Australian Accounting Standards. the Fin:incfaf 
Mllnagomcnt Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions, and for SJCh internal (:tntrol ~" the Board 
d~termim:1s is nat:ai.s~ry lo w11;,ibla Iha p,&paratlor cf financial statements that are free from rratcrial 
missrotemen:. whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financilll st~ement!;, !hP. Br:;m1 i,:,; n:JSfJOMlblfl for ass&.sslng tho Gntity's a:,!llty ta 
cor'ilinua as a going con com. disclosing. as applicable. matters related tc going :;onr,ern Rnd using the 
~oing concern basis of a::countin9 1,1nle-ss the western Ausnr.alian Govomrnent has made policy or 
funding decisions affGcting the continued existence of he Commission. 

Auditor's responsJbllfty tor the audit of the finin~ial 6t8tements 
As requirP.<t h)' lhA AorJilor GstlAt<,lf Ac/' 2006. ir.y responsibility is to express an ,Jpinion on the 
financial staternents. The objectives of my A111 t Hf~ 10 obl~in n~asonabl-a assur~nce about \Vh&IIH:1r 
the finar1cial statem<:fnts as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due ~o frauc or 
error. and to issue an au:lilor'f. repori that im::lud&s my opinion. Reasonable assJrance is~ high lcval 
of a1,;Surancl). but is not a guarantee that an audit oonc'ucled in acoord~nce with Austr~lian Auditing 
Standards will alwttys dale-cl 1:1 m~~ari.:..I n1iS$taklment when it exists. Misstatements can ar sc from 
fraud -~: error and are considered material if, in:::lio:idVi-tlly m in 111(:1 Hyyrag;da, h&y oould m~soni:'b '/ be 
expe<:tf.<I to i11nuanr.a lh0 gccnomlc decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial ,iaternents. 
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A further description of m)' respc:nsibilities for the audit of the fin�nci�I i;t:ltem?.nls is lc>c..rted on t�e 
Audiliog and Assurance Standards Board v;ebsite at 
httos:/iwww HIJR§b gov au,'a11dijcrs resoors;bilil'es•'ar4 pdf. Thi� dasc;1ip1ion ro,� p;ul or rt1y ;;eudilor·s 
repolt. 

Report on controls 

Opinion 
I h.:tv(; undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of controls 
exercised 1:>�· Iha Kimberley Oavalopmant commisi:.iort Th� controls 1::1xE1rcisE1d by the Commission l:lta 

those policies and proced1,,res establis,ed by the B:;ard to ensure that the receipt, e.xpenditure and 
irwe�tment of mor..sy, Iha acqL.lsltlon and disposal of propcny. and the incurring of liabilities have 
been in accordanoe wi:h legislative pn;.visions (the overall �ontml obj��ivEU:i). 

My opinion h,:1i; been formlf!d on the hMis :I the rr1HIIE1rS .:nJtl illE!d irl lhis n;;por1. 

In m;, opini,n, iu all ,n�h,miil rai.pacis. th� �onuols exerciscd by the Kimberley Development 
Commission are sufficiently adequate to piovide reason(lble assur,mt:e that Iha u�wi1,.1I, t.xpa11diluN,1 
�nd investment of money. lh:: acquisition ;:nd disposal of property and the incurring of liabi!ifes have 
teen in acoorr.lE1noe with legii; r1tive pnwisi,)r'IH dLrillQ lh& yaar and&d 30 Jun& 2{120. 

1he Board's responsibilities 
The Board is responsible for C:esigning, im;:,lem�nJng (Ind maintaining cont:ols tu ensure 1t·,at �P. 
nn:.ai;.il, axl)endilul"EI and lnv&StmGnl of money. the acquisition and disposal o f  property. and the 
incurring of liabilities are in ao:::ord�m::e with the Fimmr;i�I M.:Jot1�mt1rd Ac( .2G06, Iha Tn�cisurer·s 
Instructions and other relevant written law. 

Auditor General's responsibilities 
As requi;e:J by Ille Audilot' G1:merol Acr 2!>�. my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the sJitabi'.ity or the des'9n or the corilrols lo ac11leve lh& :>v&rall cortrol 
ob. �lives and tho implementation o f  die cJntrols as designed. I oooducted my engaJement in 
accordance with St;,ind;.ird on Aliij\Jr.:Jneft Eng�g;:;mEinls ASAE 3150 Asswunce Engagements on

Contrcls issued by the Aus'tralian A1,.1dijng and. Assurance StandafUs Board. That 6�ndard requires 
that I c:.o,npl}' with relavant othlcal ,e�ulrcments and plan .:ind perform m�· procedures to cl:,t:Jin 
reasonable assuranoe about whether, in F,1 I mfitF.ri-!I r�p;:«;ts, tilA t"..(')ntrols a,& suitably dssign&!I to 
;;i.:::hi&v& Iha ov�,all control obJocti'✓es and •1ere implemented as designed. 

An assurance engagement to report on t�e-design anc implementation of r.ontml$ involves perfcrming 
r�rocetftneH lo ob�in 1:1vhJQllC& abot.t th" SJit�oility of the design of controls to achieve the ove--all 
control objec:ives and ihe implementation :,I" thum:i c;o11tru1�. ThQ proc�un�s SQl"cled dGpend en ,ny 
juCgament, including the assessment of th� risks that cont·ols are not �uitatly designed or 
implemented F,1;, r.F.Signe-:t My pmc�u,� irlt"Juded tsstlng the implementation, cf those controls th�t I 
consider necessary to achieve the overall control otjec:tivei;. 

I believe that :he evidence I have obt�ined is sufficient a nc: <(::Jprcpriata IO provie!G a basis (or my 
u;.1inio11. 

Limitations of controls 
Because (If thP. inhP.�nt limilrllionH <Jf any htemal oontrol structure. it is �ossible that, e\'-en if the 
controls Dre suitably designed and implem9:nted a, designP.ri, nnc:e lh� conL'OIS arEi in op&r.:ttiun, the 
::>ve�H c::ontml objeci.iv� may no� b& achieved so that fraud. error. or non-comp iance with aws and 
regulations may occur and not oe detec::tec. Any projP.:::lio" or th& otJ:oomo of the eva!uatiC<' of lhe 
i.uill:lbilily of lh<:1 d&slgn of controls to future periods 1s subject to the risk theit the r,ontrols may become 
unsuttable .oe°"use or e,'l�rt9E:1� in {:omJilioni.. 
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Report on. the key performance fndlutors 

Opinion 
I have um;lerl8ke11 (i �ni.cm(lble ns.sur(!m;e en9n9emenl un lne key perform(in:::e indir.:atc:s of the 
Kimber1ey Developm ent Commission for the year ended 3{l June 2020. The key performance 
irldicators are lhe Unc'er T'!&asur&r approv-gd k0y &ffectlven&Ss illdi<-..ators �nd kAy effi<',iE.iu:y imtic�tor5 
that provide performance infarm�r en abol t achieving o\1toomes and delivering services. 

In my opinion, in all materi;:il resper,b., the key perfomiance indi(.alor.; of the Kimberley De.relopment 
Commission are relevant and appropriate lo assist use:s to assess the agencfs perlom1ance and 
f.Jir1y �µrijs�nl indk;atOO parfounance for lh& yi:.a, 1::-nded 30 Ju;)Y 2C20. 

Matter of Stgnlncance 

The Conrr-il;sion rer:eived an F.XP.mplion ff()m the Und@.r TM-3:;;1.irP.r fmm reporting the foll�wing key 
effectiveness indicators in its annua! repor: for the ye.a:- ended 3C June 2020: 

Delivers etrecti\le aotivities in as5,isjn9 econ::>mi<: and social deveiopment 
Makes a positive c�ntribution to eoonomi::: and social development in the K.imber1ey 
Prcvides a reliable-source of informal on and advice 
Is an accessible souroe of inforrnalion and advice. 

The exem,otion was approved due to tie cifficu ty in collecting information from stakeho,de1s because 
of COVI0-19 restricttons. Consoqucntly, this KPI wi I "ot be reported. My cpinio1 is not rrudif'led ir) 
respe!A of this matter. 

The Board's responsibility for the key f,flrformance indicators 
The Board is res�nsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in 
accordance with the Fln.:mclor l,l:m:Jgcmr>n! Ac! 2006 and the Treasurer's lr,structions and for sud1 
int�rnt1I ,:-,0ntrol a� th@. Board r1P.t�rminF.s n�P.si;Rry to w1Rh F. th@. p�pRr-,,dion of kf:ey r,@.rfonn�noe 
indicators that are free from mate:ial misstatement. whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the key perfo1manoe indicato,s. the Board i& responsible for identifying key performaJ1ce 
ind

i

cators that aro rel8vant and appropriato, having regard to their purpose in accordance wiU) 
Treasurer's Instruction 904 K�y P�1i:lt'Ct11 (t1(ffC8fQn:.. 

Auditor General's responsibility 
As required by the Aodftor General Act 2006. my responsibility as an assurance pract�ionet is to 
expr�s an opinion en the k&y p&rformar.-c� indicalora. 1 he objecLIV&s of my ang.agem&nl are to 
obtain reasonable assuranoe about wheth,r the key perlcrmance indicators are relevant and 
appropriate to assist usEirs to as5"S thQ e11iiy's p&rformanc& and whether the •:oy pcrfo1man;:;a 
indicatcrs are free from maleria mit-s:atement. whether due to fravd or enor. ;,md lo i�ue an auditc1's 
report th�t includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance wit"• Standard on 
AS.",Uf"'rlf)(:f! Er1-3a9amer';l.� ASAE 2000 Astitl:J{N,';& f:119�g&m8nls Olhlir th;m AUdt}S or �,wi,;w;-. of 
Htstoricdl Financial tnionnation issued b)' he Australian Al1diting and Assurar.ce SUlndartis Board. 
That standard requires that I comply wilh raievant ethical r&qutram&nts r&lating to assurance 
engagements. 

An assurance engagement i1volves perfon-ning procedures to obtain evidanc:e :-tb:i.)� lht. amounts and 
disclosur�s in the key performance indicat)rs. It olsc involves evaluating the re 'evance ard 
Rppropri;:i�ness. of the key perkmnance ir"dit..ato,s against lllA etil&fia and guldfnca In Traai;urer's 
lnsu-uction 904 for measurng the extent oi outcome achievement and the effio enc>; of �rvice 
d&liv&ry. ne procadur&s selected cepend on my judgement, including :he assessment of :he risks of 
material misstatement of the k.ey performance indic�tors. In m�king these risk ;t;,;sessmen:s I obtain 
an understanding of in:ernal control relevan1 to the engagement in order to design procedures that are 
appropria:e in the circumstances. 
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I believe f'lat the eYi.jence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate :o provide" basis l•�r my 
opinion. 

My lnd ep,mdcncc and quality control rclatfng to the reports on controls and key perfonnancc 
indicators 
I have complied with the ind,eoenC:enoe recuirements of the A1,;difor General Ac:t 20061:1nd tne 
re!e'lan1 elhical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In a�cordance with ASOC 1 Qu.:,Jl!y 
Control for FjmJs that Pe1form Aoc1its fmd R,w,'ews of Fin<1rn;i�i Rff/x,:ts �nd !»hRr Fimmr.:i.:,t 
lr>tormot.'on, and Other Assurance Eflgagc:nents. the Office of the Auditor Gene·al maintains 3 
oomprehensiv+-i sy!:ilarr <11 qui:lli'.y c;onlr.:.>I in.:ludi11y uocu1na111� poltciEIS and proc&dur&s mgarding 
oomplianoe witl"1 ethical requirements, professional �ttindards ancl applicable legai �nd re9ul.;1tory 
r..ic·1uirAmGnts. 

Matters relating to tho olectronic publication of the audited financial statements and l<.ey 
performance indicators 
This auditor's repcrt re lates to the financial statements and key ;0erformanc,e indicators ot lne 
Kiinb�r &'J DEivEllopml:'lnt Commission for tto year ended 30 June 202C incluCed on the Commission's 
website. The Commission·s manageme,t it; respr>nsible for lh� i11ta9rily uf lhff Co1111"nissiot's w�bsile. 
Tills audit does not provide assurance 01 lhe integrity of the Commission's website. The auditor's 
report refer.J only to the fin1:1ncial sf;'llarn�n:s and key perrormanc& indicators. described ab:.V'e. It does 
not provide an o;oinion on any other infomntion which may have Oeer. hyperlinked lno'from t,e�e 
fin,:mr.ia1 statements or kay perform�nc.a in:Jicators. If users of the i'inancia statements and key 
performance indicators are concerned with the inherent ri�ks arising rmrn publit:alion 01� a '//ebsite, 
lhay i:11'(:1 advlSGd to oonta:t thG entity to co1firm the irifom•ation contained in the website vers1cn of 
I.he financial statements �nd k.e)' ;,erform�nc:a indic;;dcJr&. 

DON CUNNINGHAME 
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINAN•�IAL AUDIT 
Delegate of the Auditor Gene,al for Western Avstr<1ii� 
?Artll. Wostem Austra!la 
3 SeptembF.r ?O?O 
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Financial Statements 

KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

The accompanying financial statements of the Kimberley Development Commission 
have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2020 and the financial position as 
at 30 June 2020. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 
any particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

Mr James Brown 
Chairperson 
Kimberley Development Commission 
Date: '- S'i,.oT"-L.r-..�£_.'L. 'l..C::>2..D 

Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Chief Executive 
Kimberley Development Commission 
Date: "1.. 'S�P,i;.f"\..c:3,�L. 1D"2.c:::> 

Cameron Patterson 
Chief Finance Officer 
Date: ·'")__ Sc� .......... �<:i:.<"l.. "2...D'l....c:::::. 

.. 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 

Supplies and services 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 

Finance costs 

Accommodation expenses 

Grants and subsidies 
Administration expenses 

Total cost of services 

Income 
Revenue 

Other revenue 

Total revenue 
Gains on disposal of non-current assets 
Total income other than income from State 
Government 
NET COST OF SERVICES 

Income from State Government 
Service Appropriation 

Income Received from Other State Agencies 

Resources received free of charge 

Total income from State Government 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) 
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Changes in asset revaluation reserve 

Total other comprehensive income/(loss) 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE 
PERIOD 

Notes 

2.1 (a) 
2.3 

4.1 (b ),4.2(b) 
6.2 
2.3 
2.2 
2.3 

3.2 

3.3 

3.1 
3.1 
3.1 

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'. 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

312,525 274,706 
2,073,123 1,893,357 

21,157 8,436 
678 

968 
116,000 36,000 

18,864 291,749 
2,542,347 2,505,216 

151,722 3,565 
151,722 3,565 

38 

151,760 3,565 
2,390,587 2,501,651 

266,000 267,000 
37,298 27,526 

1,932,904 1,705,203 
2,236,202 1,999,729 
(154,385) (501,922) 

(154,385) (501,922) 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 30 June 2020 

ASSETS 

Current Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 
Other assets 
Total Current Assets 

Non-Current Assets 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
Amounts receivable for services 
Property, plant and equipment 
Right-of-use assets 
Total Non-Current Assets 

TOTAL ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 

Current Liabilities 

Payables 
Lease liabilities 
Employee related provisions 
Total Current Liabilities 

Non-Current Liabilities 

Lease liabilities 
Employee related provisions 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

NET ASSETS 

EQUITY 

Contributed equity 
Accumulated surplus 
TOTAL EQUITY 

Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 

Notes 2020 2019 

$ $ 

6.3 1,091,383 938,181 
6.3 423,266 768,418 
5.1 2,813 6,732 
5.3 20 

1,517,482 1,713,331 

6.3 2,919 2,919 
5.2 39,000 39,000 

4.1(a) 17,149 25,586 
4.2(a) 21,855 

80,923 67,505 
1,598,405 1,780,836 

5.4 28,600 47,926 
6.1 12,711 

2.1 (b) 217,223 244,418 
258,534 292,344 

6.1 15,236 

2.1 (b) 9,472 
15,236 9,472 

273,770 301,816 

1,324,635 1,479,020 

8.9 145,000 145,000 
8.9 1,179,635 1,334,020 

1,324,635 1,479,020 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Contributed Accumulated Total equity 
Notes equity surplus 

$ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2018 145,000 1,835,942 1,980,942 

Deficit (501,922} (501,922} 

Total comprehensive loss for the period 8.9 (501,922} (501,922} 

Balance at 30 June 2019 145,000 1,334,020 1,479,020 

Balance at 1 July 2019 145,000 1,334,020 1,479,020 

Deficit (154,385) (154,385) 
Total comprehensive income for the period 8.9 (154,385) (154,385) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 145,000 1,179,635 1,324,635 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

2020 2019 

Notes $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 

. Service appropriation 266,000 267,000 
Income received from Other State Agencies 37,298 27,526 
Net cash provided by State Government 303,298 294,526 

Utilised as follows: 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Payments 

Employee benefits (349,988) (330,055) 
Supplies and services (160,612) (72,425) 
Accommodation (968) 
GST payments on purchases (17,970) (19,967) 
Grants and subsidies (116,000) (36,000) 
Administration expenses (18,864) (291,749) 

Receipts 

GST receipts on sales 14,236 2,153 
GST receipts from taxation authority 9,497 112,170 
Other receipts 151,759 88,070 
Net cash used in operating activities (487,942) (548,771) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Payments 

Principal elements of lease payments (7,306) 

Net cash used in financing activities (7,306) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (191,950) (254,245) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 1,709,518 1,963,763 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 6.3 1,517,568 1,709,518 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction w.ith the accompanying notes. 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Delivery of Services 

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 

- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 

GRAND TOTAL 

Supple-

Budget mentary 

estimate Funding 

2020 2020 

$ $ 

266,000 

266,000 

266,000 

Revised 

Budget Actual Variance 

2020 2020 2020 

$ $ $ 

266,000 266,000 

266,000 266,000 

266,000 266,000 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Notes to the financial statements 

1. Basis of Preparation

The Commission is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the 
ultimate parent. The Commission is a not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no 
cash generating units. 

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the 'Overview' 
which does not form part of these financial statements. 

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the Commission 
on 2 September 2020. 

Statement of compliance 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with: 

1 The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA) 

2 The Treasurer's Instructions (the Instructions or TI) 

3 Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) - Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

4 Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been applied. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions (the Instructions) take precedence over 
AAS. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary application, disclosure format and wording. Where 
modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of accounting and 
using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the 
fair value basis). Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. 
All values are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

Judgements and estimates 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information being presented. 
The significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed 
in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Significant judgements and estimates have been made to meet the requirements of the new standards AASB 
16 and AASB 1058. 

Refer to Note 8.2 for the impact of the initial adoption and the practical expedients applied in the initial 
recognition. 
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Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or 
prior, to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have 
been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non
reciprocal. 
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2. Use of Our Funding

Expenses incurred in the delivery of services 

This section provides additional information about how the Commission's funding is applied and the accounting 
policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary 
expenses incurred by the Commission in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are: 

Notes 2020 2019 

$ $ 

Employee benefits expenses 2.1 (a) 312,525 274,706 
Employee benefits provisions 2.1 (b) 217,223 253,890 
Grants and subsidies 2.2 116,000 36,000 
Other expenditure 2.3 2,091,987 2,186,074 

2.1. (a) Employee benefits expenses

2020 2019 

$ $ 

Wages and salaries(a) 246,634 226,668 
Superannuation(b) 36,367 36,024 
Other staffing costs 29,524 12,014 
Total employee benefits expenses 312,525 274,706 
Add: AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits 13,397 

Net employee benefits 325,922 274,706 

Wages and salaries: include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, leave entitlements 
and paid sick leave,. 

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other 
superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to the Government Employees Superannuation Board 
(GESS) in respect of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESS. 

GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of
government reporting. It is however a defined contribution plan for Commission purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Commission to GESB extinguishes the 
Commission's obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

The Commission does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees. The Liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme 
and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 
are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the 
Commission to the GESS. 

The GESS and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western 
Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes 
for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates. 

Other staffing costs: Include the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax 
component. 

AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: Non-monetary employee benefits expenses, predominantly relate to the 
provision of Vehicle and Housing benefits are measured at the cost incurred by the Commission. 
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2.1. (b) Employee benefits provision

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long 
service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the 
services are delivered.

Current 
Employee benefits provisions 
Annual leave {aJ 
Long service leave {bJ 

Other provisions 
Employment on-costs {cJ 

Total current employee related provisions 

Non-Current 
Employee benefits provisions 
Long service leave (bJ 

-

Other provisions 
Employment on-costs {cJ 

Total non-current employee related provisions 
Total employee related provisions 

2020 2019 

$ $ 

143,096 129,818 
71,041 111,307 

214,137 241,125 

3,086 3,293 
217,223 244,418 

9,345 

127 

9,472 
217,223 253,890 

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to be made in relation 
to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current
liabilities as the Commission does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because 
the Commission has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service. 

The components of the long service leave liabilities are calculated at present value as the Commission does 
not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is measured taking into account 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement, discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

(c) Employment on-costs The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment
of employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of
expected future payments.

Employment on-costs: including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.
Employment on-costs are included as part of 'other expenses, Note 2.3 (apart from the unwinding of the
discount (finance cost))' and are not included as part of the Commission's 'employee benefits expense'.
The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs provision'.

Employment on cost provision 
Carrying amount at start of period 
Additional provisions recognised 

Carrying amount at end of period 

2020 

$ 

3,420 
(334) 

3,086 

2019 

$ 

3,174 
246 

3,420 
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Key sources <;>f estimation uncertainty - long service leave 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. 

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission's long service leave provision. 
These include: 

• Expected future salary rates

• Discount rates

• Employee retention rates; and

• Expected future payments

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave 
provision. 

Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as 
employee benefits expense. 

2.2. Grants and Subsidies 

Recurrent 
Royalties for Regions Fund - Community Chest Fund 
Total grants and subsidies 

2020 
$ 

116,000 
116,000 

2019 

$ 

36,000 
36,000 

Transactions in which the Commission provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or labour 
to another party without receiving approximately equal value in return are categorised as 'Grant expenses'. 
Grants can either be operating or capital in nature. 

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to conditions regarding 
their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which are paid for a particular purpose 
and/or have conditions attached regarding their use. 

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as an expense in 
the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions such as: grants, subsidies, 
personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals, other transfer payments made to public sector 
agencies, local government, non-government schools, and community groups. 

2.3. Other Expenditure 

2020 2019 
$ $ 

Supplies and services 
Communications 2,516 2,230 
Services and Contracts 81,507 101,354 
Travel 48,919 73,611 
Consumables 7,277 11,281 
Resources provided free of charge by DPIRD(a) 1,932,904 1,704,881 
Total supplies and services expense 2,073,123 1,893,357 

Accommodation expenses 
Utilities 968 
Total accommodation expenses 968 

Administration expenses 
Travel - non staff related 606 
Advertising 1,684 2,499 
Other administration expenses(b) 16,574 22,577 
Return of unused grants 266,673 
Total administration expenses 18,864 291,749 
Total other expenditure 2,091,987 2,186,074 

16 

Page 50 of 80



Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Notes to the financial statements 

(a) Support Services provided by DPIRD to support the Commission's in the fulfilment of its statutory functions
and obligations under the Regional Development Commission Act 1993. See note 3.1 Income from State
Government.

(b) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability
associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability in included at note 2.1 (b)
'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits
and are not included in employment on-costs.

Supplies and services: 

Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The 
carrying amounts of any materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed. 

Accommodation expenses: 

Electricity and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred. 

Administration expenses: 

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. 

17 

Page 51 of 80



Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Notes to the financial statements 

3. Our Funding Sources

How we obtain our funding 

This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains its funding and the relevant 
accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The primary income 
received by the Commission and the relevant notes are: 

Notes 

Income from State Government 
Other revenue 
Gains 

3.1. Income from State Government 

Appropriation received during the period: 
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975(a) 

Grants received from Other State Agencies 

Services received free of charge: (bl 
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies: 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional Developments - Support 
Services provided (c) 

State Solicitor's Office - Legal Services 

Total income from State Government 

3.1 
3.2 
3.3 

2020 

$ 

2,236,202 

151,722 

38 

2020 

$ 

266,000 

266,000 

37,298 

37,298 

1,932,904 

1,932,904 

2,236,202 

2019 

$ 

1,999,729 
3,565 

2019 

$ 

267,000 
267,000 

27,526 
27,526 

1,704,881 
322 

1,705,203 

1,999,729 

(a) Service Appropriations received from the Department of Treasury, fund the net cost of services
delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component only.

(b) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value
of the assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they
were not donated. Contributions of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are
recognised direct to equity.

(c) Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development Support Services provided by DPIRD to
support the Commission in the fulfilment of its statutory functions and obligations under the Regional
Development Commission Act 1993.

The application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 from 1July 2019 has no impact on the treatment of income form 
State Government. 

3.2. Other Revenue 

Recoups of expenditure from various bodies 
Sundry Income 
Other revenue/recoups 

2020 

$ 

30 

151,692 

151,722 

2019 

$ 
2,497 

9 
1,059 
3,565 

The application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019 has no impact on the treatment of other revenue. 
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3.3. Gains 

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 
Right of use asset - GROH 

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed 
Right of use asset - GROH 

Net gain/(loss) 

Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 

2020 

$ 

18,714 

(18,676) 

38 

2019 

$ 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the proceeds on 
disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in 
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale). 
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4. Key Assets

Assets the Commission utilises for economic benefit or service potential 

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission utilises to gain economic benefits 
or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information 
about the performance of these assets: 

Property, plant and equipment 
Right-of-use assets 
Total key assets 

4.1. (a) Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 30 June 2020 

2019 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Additions 
Disposals (written down value) 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
Depreciation 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Gross carrying amount 
Accumulated depreciation 

2020 
Carrying amount at start of year 
Additions 
Disposals (written down value) 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 
Depreciation 
Carrying amount at end of year 

Initial recognition 

Notes 2020 
$ 

4.1 17,149 

2019 
$ 

25,586 
4.2 ___ 2_1.,_,8_5 _5 _____ _ 

Office 
equipment 

$ 

3,294 

{1,163) 
2,131 

217,335 
(215,204) 

2,131 

(1,163) 
968 

39,004 

Furniture, 
fixtures & 

fittings 
$ 

30,728 

{7,273) 
23,455 

79,141 
(55,686) 

23,455 

(7,274) 
16,181 

25,586 

Total 
$ 

34,022 

(8,436) 
25,586 

25,586 

(8,437) 
17,149 

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. Where an asset 
is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total). 

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the historical cost model is used for the measurement of property, 
plant and equipment. All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
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4.1. (b) Depreciation and impairment

Charge for the period 

Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment 
Total depreciation for the year 

Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 

2020 

$ 

8,437 

8,437 

2019 

$ 

8,436 
8,436 

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment or infrastructure. 

Finite useful lives 

All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. The 
exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases, assets held for sale, land and investment 
properties. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset's value, less any 
estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset 
classes for current and prior years are included in the table below: 

Asset 
Computer Hardware 
Office Equipment 
Office fit-out 

Useful life: yea'? 
3 to 5 years 
5 years 
10 to 25 years 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period, and adjustments should be made where appropriate. 

Impairment 

Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset 
is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised 
through profit or loss. 

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a 
revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income. 

As the Commission is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, 
the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to be materially the same as 
fair value. 

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased 
to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset's carrying amount above what 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised 
in prior years. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset's depreciation is materially 
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each 
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects 
the level of consumption or expiration of the asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from declining replacement costs. 
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4.2. (a) Right-of-use assets

Year ended 30 June 2020 

1 July 2019 

Gross carrying amount 
Accumulated amortisation 
Carrying amount at start of period 

Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial application of 
AASB16 
Adjusted balance at 1 July 2019 
Additions 
Disposals 
Transfers 
Impairment loss 
Depredation 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 

Gross carrying amount 
Accumulated depreciation 
Accumulated impairment loss 

Initial recognition 

Vehicles 

$ 

28,785 

28,785 

(6,930) 

21,855 

28,785 

(6,930) 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following: 

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

Residential 
Accommodati 

on 

$ 

24,466 

24,466 

(18,676) 

(5,790) 

Total 

$ 

53,251 

53,251 

(18,676) 

(12,720) 

21,855 

28,785 

(6,930) 

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
• any initial direct costs, and
• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

Subsequent Measurement 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset to be carried 
at the cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re
measurement of lease liability. 

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated 
useful lives of the underlying assets. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Commission at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. The policy in 
connection with testing for impairment of outlined in note 4.1 (b) 
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4.2. (b) Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

Vehicles 
Residential accommodation 
Total right-of-use asset depreciation 

Lease interest expense (included in Finance Cost) 

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019-20 was $12,554.27. 

The Commission's leasing activities for and how these are accounted for: 

2020 

$ 

6,930 

5,790 

12,720 

678 

2019 

$ 

The Commission has also entered in a Memorandum of Understanding Agreements (MOU) with the 
Department of Finance for the leasing of office accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 
because of substitution rights held by the Department of Finance and are accounted for as an expense 
incurred. 

Up to the 30 June 2019, the Commission classified lease as either finance leases or operating leases, From 
the 1 July 2019, the Commission recognised leases as right-of-assets and associated leases liabilities in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

The corresponding leases liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have been disclosed in note 6.1. 
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5. Other Assets and Liabilities

Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission's controlled operations and 
includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during normal operations: 

Receivables 
Amounts receivable for services 
Other assets 
Payables 

5.1. Receivables 

Current 
GST receivable 
Other debtors 
Receivables 
Total current 

Note 

5.1 
5.2 
5.3 
5.4 

2020 2019 

$ $ 

2,813 6,732 
39,000 39,000 

20 
28,600 47,926 

2020 2019 

$ $ 

2,813 6,732 

2,813 6,732 

The Commission does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables. 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment). The carrying amount of net trade receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days. 

5.2. Amounts receivable for services 

2020 2019 

$ $ 

Current 
Non-current 39,000 39,000 

39,000 39,000 

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted 
in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 

Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (ie. there is no expected credit loss of the Holding 
Account) 

5.3. Other assets 

Current 
Prepayments 
Total current 

2020 

$ 

20 
20 

2019 

$ 

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or 
services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that 
period. 

5.4. Payables 

2020 2019 

$ $ 
Current 
Trade payables 12,983 34,793 

Other payables 63 227 
Accrued expenses 15,554 12,110 

Accrued salaries 796 

Total current 28,600 47,926 
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Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days. 

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Commission considers the carrying 
amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value .. 

The accrued salaries suspense account (See Note 6.3 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents') consists of 
amounts paid annually, from Commission's appropriations for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense 
account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay 
days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account. 
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6. Financing

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and cash flows of 
the Commission. 

Leases 

Finance costs 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Commitments 

6.1. Leases liabilities 

The statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to lease liabilities: 

2020 

$ 

Current 12,711 

Non-current 15,236 

27,947 

Notes 

6.1 

6.2 

6.3 

6.4 

2019 

$ 

The Commission measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in 
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Commission uses the incremental borrowing rate 
provided by Western Australia Treasury Corporation. 

Lease payments included by the Commission as part of the present value calculation of lease liability include: 

Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable; 

Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured 

• using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be exercised);

Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects the Commission exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease liabilities do not include 
any future changes in variable lease payments (that depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which 
case the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the Commission if 
the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 

Variable lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are dependent on sales are 
recognised by the Commission in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those payments 
occurs 

This section should be read in conjunction with note 4.2. 

Subsequent Measurement 

Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; 
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at 
amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications. 
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6.2. Finance costs 

Lease interest expense 

'Finance cost' includes the interest component of lease liability repayments. 

6.3. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Total cash and cash equivalents 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents: 
Salary and Allowances Act 
Community Resource Centre Wyndham 
Kimberley Regional Development Scheme 
Kimberley Capabilities Register 
Royalties for Regions Fund (a) 

Warnum Re-Establishment Taskforce 
Total restricted cash and cash equivalents 

Accrued salaries suspense account (b) 

Total non-current 

Balance at end of period 

2020 

$ 

678 
678 

2020 

$ 

1,091,383 
1,091,383 

12,616 
75,000 
31,975 
7,048 

127,064 
169,563 
423,266 

2,919 
2,919 

1,517,568 

(a) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

2019 

$ 

2019 

$ 

938,181 
938,181 

75,000 
46,975 
7,048 

469,832 
169,563 
768,418 

2,919 
2,919 

1,709,518 

(b} Funds held in the suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year 
that occurs every 11 years. 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand. 

6.4. Commitments 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows 
Within one year 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 
Later than 5 years 

2020 

$ 
2019 

$ 

6,709 
23,480 

30,189 

From 1 July 2019, the Commission has recognised the right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liability for 
all non-cancellable operating lease commitments, apart from short term and low value leases, where the lessor 
is not a WA State Government Agency. Refer to Note 6.1. 
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7. Financial instruments and Contingencies

Financial instruments 

Contingent assets and liabilities 

7.1. Financial Instruments 

Notes 

7.1 

7.2 

The carrying amounts of ea.eh of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end 
of the reporting period are: 

2020 2019 

$ $ 
Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,091,383 938,181 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 426,185 771,337 

Receivables (a) 

Amount receivable for services 39,000 39,000 

Total financial assets 1,556,568 1,748,518 

Financial liabilities 
Payables 28,600 47,926 

Total financial liabilities 28,600 47,926 

(a) Receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

7.2. Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but are 
disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. 

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

No Contingent assets exist as at 30 June 2020. 

No Contingent liabilities exist as at 30 June 2020. 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Notes to the financial statements 

8. Other Disclosures

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other 
pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report. 

Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 

Key management personnel 

Related party transactions 

Related bodies 

Affiliated bodies 

Special purpose accounts 

Remuneration of auditors 

Equity 

Supplementary financial information 

Explanatory statement 

8.1. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

Note 

8.1 

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

8.5 

8.6 

8.7 

8.8 

8.9 

8.10 

8.11 

No events, matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the reporting period which significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Commission, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Commission in future financial years. 

8.2. Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 

AASB 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 Construction

Contracts for annual reporting periods on or after 1 July 2019. Under the new model, an entity shall recognise 
revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service 
and is based upon the transfer of control rather than transfer of risks and rewards. 

AASB 15 focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the contracts with customers. Revenue 
is recognised by applying the following five steps: 

• Identifying contracts with customers

• Identifying separate performance obligations

• Determining the transaction price of the contract

• Allocating the transaction price to each of the performance obligations

• Recognising revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct goods or services are separately 
identified and any discounts or rebates in the contract price are allocated to the separate elements. 

In addition, income other than from contracts with customers are subject to AASB 1058 income of Not-for
Profit Entities. Income recognition under AASB 1058 depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to 
liabilities or a contribution by owners related to an asset (such as cash or another asset) recognised by the 
Commission. 

The Commission adopts the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 15 and AASB 1058. No 
comparative information will be restated under this approach and the Commission recognises the cumulative 
effect of initially applying the Standards as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated 
surplus/( deficit) at the date of initial application (1 July 2019). 

Refer to Note 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 for the revenue and income accounting policies adopted from 1 July 2019. 

There was no impact on retained earnings on 1 July 2019 as a result of adopting AASB 15 and AASB 1058. 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
Notes to the financial statements 

AASB 16 - Leases

From 1 July 2019, MSB 16 Leases supersedes MSB 117 Leases, Interpretation 4 Determining whether an 
Arrangement contains a Lease, Interpretation 115 Operating Leases - Incentives and Interpretation 127 
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. MSB 16 primarily affects 
lessee accounting and provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and their 
treatment in the financial statements of both lessees and lessors. The main changes introduced by the new 
Standard include identification of lease within a contract and a new lease accounting model for lessees that 
require lessees to recognise all leases (operating and finance leases) on the Statement of Financial Position 
as a right-of-use asset and lease liability, except for short term leases (lease terms of 12 months or less at 
commencement date) and low-value assets (valued less than $5,000) where the lessor is not a WA State 
Government agency. The operating lease and finance lease distinction for lessees no longer exists. 

The Commission has applied the modified retrospective approach on initial adoption. As permitted under the 
specific transition provisions in the standard, comparatives have not been restated. Lease liabilities recognised 
are measured at present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing 
rate. Upon initial application, the value of leased right-of-use assets are equal to the recognised leased 
liabilities. 

The Commission is permitted on a lease-by-lease basis to apply the following practical expedients. 

(a) A single discount rate may be applied to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.

(b) Commission relies on its assessment of whether leases are onerous applying MSB 137 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets immediately before 1 July 2019 as an alternative to
performing an impairment review, the Commission shall adjust the right-of-use asset at the date of
initial application by the amount of any provision for onerous leases recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before the date of initial application.

(c) Exclusion of initial direct costs from the measurement of right-of-use asset at the date of initial
application.

(d) Use of hindsight, such as in determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease.

MSB 16 takes into consideration all operating leases that were off balance sheet under MSB 117 and 
recognises: 

(a) Right of use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially measured at the
present value of future lease payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate (2.5%) on 1
July 2019.

(b) Depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement of comprehensive
. income.

(c) The total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is presented in the cash flows from financing
activities, and interest paid, which is presented in the cash flows from operating activities, in the
statement of cash flows.

Measurement of lease liabilities: 

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 
Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application 
Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 30 June 2019 
(Less): Short-term leases not recognised as liability 
(Less): Low-value leases not recognised as liability 
Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019 

Current lease liabilities 
Non-current lease liabilities 

$ 

30,189 
28,785 

28,785 

5,557 
23,227 
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Kimberley Development Commission - 30 June 2020 
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8.3. Key management personnel 

The Commission has determined key management personnel to include Chief Executive Officer, members of 
the accountable authority, senior officers of the Commission and the Minister that the Commission assists. 
The Commission does not incur expenditures to compensate Ministers and those disclosures may be found in 
the Annual Report on State Finances. 

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior officers of the 
commission for the reporting period are presented within the following bands: 

Compensation of members of the accountable authority 

Compensation band ($) 

0 -10,000 

10,001 - 20,000 

50,001 -60,000 

Compensation of senior officers ($) 

200,001 -210,000 

240,001 -250,000 

250,001 - 260,000 

270,001 - 280,000 

Short-tenn employee benefits 

Post-employment benefits 

Other long-tenn benefits 

Total compensation of key management personnel 

2020 

5 

1 

1 

1 

1 

2020 

$ 

502,955 

38,574 

40,840 

582,369 

2019 

7 

1 

2019 

$ 

473,415 

39,378 

38,953 

551,746 

The total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Commission in respect 
of the members of the Commission. 
As of first of July 2017, all Commission employees, except for the Chief Executive Officer, were 
transferred to the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD). The 
disclosure for senior officers' compensation represents both the CEO's employee benefits met by the 
Commission and all other senior officers' employee benefits now met by DPIRD. 

8.4. Related party transactions 

The Commission is a wholly owned and controlled entity of the State of Western Australia. In conducting its 
activities, the Commission is required to pay various taxes and levies based on the standard terms and 
conditions that apply to all tax and levy payers to the State and entities related to State. 

Related parties of the commission include: 

• All senior officers and their close family members. and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• All cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;

• Other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies included in the whole of government
consolidated financial statements;

• Associates and joint ventures, that are included in the whole of government consolidated financial
statements; and

• The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

All related party transactions have been entered into on an arm's length basis. 

Material transactions with related parties 

The Commission had no material related party transaction with Ministers/senior officers or their close family 
members or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities for disclosure. 
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8.5. Related bodies 

The Commission had no related bodies during the reporting period. 

8.6. Affiliated bodies 

The Commission had no affiliated bodies during the reporting period. 

8.7. Special purpose accounts 

The Commission has no special purpose accounts during the reporting period. 

8.8. Remuneration of auditors 

Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as 
follows: 

Auditing the accounts, financial statement controls, and key performance 
indicators 

8.9. Equity 

Contributed equity 

Balance at start of year 
Balance at end of year 

Accumulated (deficit) 

Balance at start of year 
Result for the year 
Balance at end of year 

Total equity at end of year 

8.10. Supplementary financial information 

(a) Write-offs

There were no write-offs during the financial year. 

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

2020 

$ 

25,000 

2020 

$ 

145,000 

145,000 

1,334,020 

(154,385) 

1,179,635 

1,324,635 

There here have been no losses through theft, defaults or from other causes. 

(c) Gift of public property

There were no gifts of public property provided by the Commission during the financial year. 

8.11. Explanatory statement 

2019 

$ 

25,000 

2019 

$ 

145,000 

145,000 

1,835,942 
(501,922) 

1,334,020 

1,479,020 

The Commission is exempt from TI 945 Explanatory Statement as their Total Cost of Services is below $10 
million for the two most recent consecutive comparative periods. 
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Key Performance Indicators 

KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

We hereby certify that: 
• the efficiency performance indicators are based on proper records, are

relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Kimberley
Development Commission's performance and fairly represent the
performance of the Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2020;

• the Commission was granted an exemption to disclosing its effectiveness
performance indicators in this Annual Report by the Under Treasurer on 8
June 2020.

James Brown 
Chairperson 
Kimberley Development Commission 
Date: '"'l... 4:::::>�T�t"'-,. '3.� '2.. '1..c:,2...0 

Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Chief Executive 
Kimberley Development Commission 
Date: 'l.. Sli:.?T'C.�Q.�-,_ 'l..c:Y'L� 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Key Performance Indicators 

Performance management enhances the transparency and accountability of the 
Commission and enables its service delivery to be readily assessed as it works to 
achieve desired outcomes that are consistent with its statutory responsibilities and 
high level Government Priorities (described in Section 1). 

The desired outcome from the Commission's activities is: 

"An environment conducive to the balanced economic and social development 
of the Kimberley Region." 

Accordingly, the Commission delivers two major services to its customers: 
• Policies, strategies, plans and regional promotion; and
• Industry and infrastructure identification, coordination and development

Key Performance Indicators of Effectiveness 

Usually each year to assess its level of custor:ner service and achievement against its 
key Performance Indicators of Effectiveness, the Commission engages an 
independent communications/research business to undertake an annual customer 
survey. Customer satisfaction is measured against a range of elements of the 
Commission's service, including the effectiveness of the Commission in achieving 
seven different outcomes through the delivery of services. 

Advantage Communications was engaged to complete the customer survey on the 
Commission's behalf for the 2019/2020 financial year. However, given the impact of 
the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Commission's stakeholders, the Commission decided 
not to impose the Customer Survey on them. In accordance with Treasurer's 
Instruction 104 the Commission sought and obtained an exemption from paragraph 
(3)(i) of Treasurer's instruction 904 to disclose the key effectiveness indicators in the 
2019/2020 Annual Report from the Under Treasurer. 
Prior year values are provided below. 

Key Effectiveness Indicators 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 
The Kimberley Development Commission 
Delivers effective activities in assisting economic 87% 92% 91% 93% 
and social development. 
Makes a positive contribution to economic and 87% 92% 91% 93% 
social development in the Kimberley 

Provides a reliable source of information and 88% 91% 92% 93% 
advice. 
Is an accessible source of information and 88% 91% 92% 93% 
advice. 
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Key Performance Indicators of Efficiency 

A discussion of actual results against budget targets for efficiency indicators and 
comparative information for the current and previous four reporting years is provided. 

The Commission's efficiency indicators for its services are calculated by the cost of 
the projects divided by the number of project hours allocated by staff. To calculate the 
cost per project hour, grant income and expenditure are deducted from the Total 
Operating Cost. Using hours spent on each service, a ratio to total hours is calculated 
and this ratio then determines the Total Operating Cost for each service. Corporate 
service hours are apportioned across both services. 
Efficiency Indicators 

Service 1: Policies, strategies, plans and regional promotion results 

2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 

Net Operating Cost 1,434,109 1,213,001 1,330,181 

Number of Project 
9,957 7,444 6,995 

Hours 

Cost per Project Hour $144 $163 $190 

Service 2: Industry and infrastructure identification, coordination and 
development results 

2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 

Net Operating Cost 992,238 985,977 734,737 

Number of Project 
6,886 6,001 3,606 

Hours 

Cost per Project Hour $144 $164 $204 

Almost uniquely in WA the Kimberley was significantly locked down for much of the 
period from 18 March to the end of the 2019-2020 year and beyond with significant 
travel restrictions in place at State, Regional and all community borders enforced by 
both Commonwealth and State instruments. While COVID 19 has seriously impacted 
the economy of the Kimberley and the operations of the Commission it has also had 
impacts on the Performance framework of the Commission. 

• In the absence of the annual Stakeholder survey it is not possible to
determine the 2019-20 Effectiveness KPl's for the Commission.

• During the pandemic the Commission's operations were pivoted (at the
direction of government) to providing daily regional intelligence reports and
working within the States Pandemic Response plan to provide advice to
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KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION 
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

government on policy, strategy, plans and promotions to drive regional 
economic recovery. The resultant shift in working hours from Service 2 to 
Service 1 drove a slight ( -3% ) under target cost result in the Service 1 
outcome and 10% over target cost result in the Service 2 outcome. In the 
context of the economic and operational disruption underway this is 
considered nominal. 

Summary of Key Performance Indicators 

Comparison of actual results against targets for efficiency indicators. 

2019/2020 2019/2020 Reason for Significant Variation 

Target Result between Target and Result 

Service 1: Policies, 

strategies, plans and regional Service 1 cost per hour was 3% below 
promotion 

target 
Average cost per project hour $149 $144 

Service 2: Industry and 
Service 2 cost per hour was 10% 

infrastructure identification, 
above target due a change in focus to 

coordination and 
Service 1 during COVID-19 

development 
lockdowns. 

Average cost per project hour $131 $144 
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Annual Estimates 2020/2021
Treasurers Instruction 953 requires the Commission to include the annual estimates for 
the 2020/2021 year in the 2019/2020 Annual Report, however, because of the impact of 
the COVID-19 Pandemic, this year the State Budget has been deferred from May 2020 
to October 2020.  

As a result, although the Commission’s annual estimates have been prepared in draft, 
they have not been finalised, considered, or approved by the Minister and are therefore 
not available to include in this Annual Report. 

The annual estimates do not form part of the 2019/2020 financial statements and are not 
subject to audit.  
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Ministerial Directions 
No Ministerial directives were received by the Commission during the financial year. 

Other Financial Disclosures 

Pricing policies of services provided 

The Commission has dealt with one application for non-personal information under the 
Freedom of Information Act 1992 during 2019/2020 for which it received one payment 
of thirty (30) dollars on application in accordance with the Freedom of Information 
Regulations 1993 and the Commission’s Freedom of Information Statement.  

Capital Works 

No capital projects were commenced, underway or completed in 2019/2020. 

Employment and Industrial Relations 

Staff Profile 

Staff Employed 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Full-time permanent 3 3 3 0 0 0 
Full-time contract 4 4 4 1 1 1 
Part-time measured 
on FTE basis 

0.8 0.6 0.6 0 0 0 

Positions vacant 1 1 1 0 0 0 

Total staff 
employed 

7.8 7.6 7.6 1 1 1 

Since the disposition of the Commission’s employees to the Department of Primary 
Industries and Regional Development (DPIRD) on 1 July 2017, the Commission has 
retained one employee, the Chief Executive. At 30 June 2020 ten DPIRD positions 
were based with the Commission; a total of 9.4 FTE of which eight were occupied and 
two vacant at 30 June 2020.  

Professional Development 

The Commission’s Board and Staff are accustomed to remote learning and taking 
advantage of opportunities to learn both informally and formally. In the last year, with 
the Commission’s financial support one Board Member and one senior member of 
staff have completed the Australian Institute Company Directors intensive Company 
Directors program and three Project Staff have commenced the Diploma in Project 
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Management offered online by DPIRD in partnership with TAFE. All staff have 
participated actively in informal professional development opportunities, for example: 
audit function and grants assessment. 

Worker’s Compensation  

The Commission received no Worker’s Compensation Claims in 2019/2020. 
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Governance Disclosures  

Board and Committee Remuneration 
(Premier’s Circular 2017/08: State Government Boards and Committees) 

As required, the Commission provides this report on the individual and aggregate 
costs of remunerating all positions on its Boards and Committees – State Government 
Boards and Committees in reference to those which appear in the Register published 
by the Department of Premier and Cabinet. The Commission’s Board Members are 
also entitled to claim a travel allowance that is not included in this information. 

Remuneration by Board Position for 2019/2020 (including Superannuation) 

Position Member 
Name 

Type of 
remuner-
ation 

Period of 
membership 

Terms 
of Appt. 

Base Sitting 
Fees 

Gross / 
Actual 
Remuner-
ation  $ 

Chair James Brown Annual 01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

2016 to 
2020 

$47,250 per 
annum 

47,969.33 

Deputy 
Chair 

Cr Geoff 
Haewera 

Annual & 
per meeting  

01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

2018 to 
2020 

$5,000 per 
annum and  
$790 more 
than 4 hours 
$513 less than 
4 hours 

15,781.84 

Member Kalyn 
Fletcher 

Per meeting 01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

2018 to 
2021 

$622 Full Day 
$403 Half Day 

3,110.00 

Member Cecilia Gore-
Birch 

Per meeting 01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

2018 to 
2021 

$622 Full Day 
$403 Half Day 

3,513.00 

Member Kira Fong Per meeting 01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

2019 to 
2022 

$622 Full Day 
$403 Half Day 

4,976.00 

Member Cr Desiree 
Male 

Per meeting 01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

2020 to 
2022 

$622 Full Day 
$403 Half Day 

1,866.00 

Member Cr Catherine 
Marriott 

Per meeting 01/07/19 to 
19/10/19 

2018 to 
2020 

$622 Full Day 
$403 Half Day 

1,647.00 

CEO Jeff Gooding Not eligible 01/07/19 to 
30/06/20 

Ex 
Officio 

- - 

Total Costs 78,863.17 
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Contracts with Senior Officers 

At the date of reporting no Senior Officers, or firms of which Senior Officers are 
Members or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial interests, had interests 
in existing or proposed contracts with the Commission other than normal contracts of 
employment of service. 

Insurance premiums paid to Indemnify members of the Board 

On the 5 August, 2019, $7,058.70 (inc GST) was paid, via RiskCover, to indemnify all 
Board Members and Senior Officers, as listed in Section 1 Overview of this report, 
against a liability incurred under sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations 
(Liability of Directors) Act 1996.  

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards 

In accordance with Treasurer’s Instructions TI 321 “Credit Cards – Authorised Use” 
we report that there has been no unauthorised use of the Commission’s Credit Cards 
in 2019/2020 by the Commission’s Board or Chief Executive.  

Other Legal Requirements 
This section of the Annual Report provides a summary of the Commission’s 
compliance with legislation other than the Financial Management Act 2006, Financial 
Management Regulations 2007 and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 

Advertising 
(The Electoral Act 1907, Section 175ZE) 

The Commission did not incur any expenditure in advertising, market research, polling, 
direct mail or media advertising in 2019/2020. 

Recruitment advertising costs for DPIRD positions based with the Commission were 
incurred by DPIRD. 
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Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes 
(Disability Services Act 1993, s29 and Schedule 3 of the Disability Services 
Regulations 2004)) 

The Commission’s initiatives are provided against each of the seven desired Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan outcomes: 

1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
access the services of and any events organised by a public authority.
Although the Commission has not organised many events in 2019/2020, when it
has done so, access arrangements for any delegates with disabilities have been
considered.

2. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
access the buildings and other facilities of a public authority.
The Commission’s Kununurra office is purposefully located on the ground floor to
facilitate access. In Broome given the Commission’s office is on the first floor it has
a standing arrangement with the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage as
an alternate more accessible, ground floor meeting place.

3. People with disabilities receive information from a public authority in a
format that will enable them to access the information as readily as other
people are able to access it.
Information that the Commission produces is prepared in accordance with
Government’s standards and can be made available in special formats on request.

4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the
staff of a public authority as other people receive from the staff of that public
authority.
The Commission’s staff are used to working with people from a diverse range of
backgrounds and are committed to offering those with disabilities the same high
quality of service as people without disabilities.

5. People with disabilities receive the same opportunities as other people to
make complaints to a public authority.
The Commission’s complaint mechanisms are accessible for people with
disabilities in alternate formats where required.

6. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to
participate in any public consultation by a public authority.
People with disabilities are welcomed to participate in any public consultation
organised by the Commission and its staff are available to provide support to
remove any impediments.

7. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people
regarding employment practices (recruitment and retention) by a public
authority.
The Commission ensures that its recruitment and retention practices are fair and
unbiased and welcomes applications from people with disabilities.
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Reporting on Recordkeeping Plans 
(State Records Act 2000 and State Records Commission Standard 2, Principle 6) 

In accordance with the State Records Commission, Standard 2, Principle 6 - 
Compliance, the Commission reports the following: 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the Commission’s recordkeeping systems 
are evaluated not less than once every five years. 
In May 2019 the Commission surveyed staff to inform the development of its fourth 
Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) that was submitted to the State Records Commission and 
approved on 12 December 2019. Since that time, the Commission has continued to 
make progress in reviewing its records for disposal and retention. 

The organisation conducts a recordkeeping training program. 
A formalised Recordkeeping Training program exists and supports ongoing informal 
staff development about recordkeeping across the Commission’s three offices. New 
staff are orientated to the Commission’s recordkeeping systems and continuing staff 
are updated as required.  

The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training program is 
reviewed from time to time. 
During the development of the Commission’s fourth Recordkeeping Plan (2019) the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the KDC Recordkeeping training program was reviewed 
and found to be suitable and to support the Commission’s compliance with the State 
Records Act 2000. 

The Commission’s induction program addresses employee roles and 
responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the organisations 
recordkeeping plan. 
The Commission’s Induction program was updated in early 2020, since the 
development of the Commission’s new Recordkeeping Plan and includes a summary 
of recordkeeping roles and responsibilities, which are described in detail in the 
Commission’s recordkeeping policies.  
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
(Public Sector Management Act 1994, s31 (1)) 

In accordance with the Public Sector Management Act 1994, s31 for 2019/2020 I 
provide the following compliance report: 

WA Public Sector Code of Ethics 

The Commission's Board and Staff have complied with the WA Public Sector Code 
of Ethics. 

There have been no reports of non-compliance. 

Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management 

The Commission has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management which are supported by the Commission's Human Resource 
Management Policy Manual which has been updated in the last year. 

No breach claims have been received. 

Kimberley Development Commission Board Charter and Code of Conduct 

The Commission's Board Charter and Board Code of Conduct have been reviewed 
and updated in the last year and are consistent with the WA Public Sector Code of 
Conduct, legislation and Government policy. 

There have been no reports of non-compliance. 

Jeff Gooding, PSM, JP 
Chief Executive 
Date: 
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Government Policy Requirements 
Occupational Safety and Health 
(Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2018-03: Code of Practice: Occupational 
Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector) 

Statement of the Commission’s commitment to occupational safety and health 
and injury management with an emphasis on Executive commitment: 
The Commission’s Executive is committed to maintaining a safe working environment 
for its Board Members, DPIRD employees, Contractors and Visitors. This has been 
especially important during the COVID-19 Pandemic, when the Commission has 
observed Government’s restrictions and has been committed to maintaining a healthy 
work environment. 

Description of the formal mechanism for consultation with employees on 
occupational safety and health matters: 
Two DPIRD KDC based staff are members of the respective DPIRD Occupational 
Safety & Health Committees in the East and West Kimberley which provide a formal 
mechanism of consultation. Given the small size of the organisation the Commission’s 
Chief Executive and DPIRD employees also liaise directly with one another on 
Occupational Safety and Health matters.  

Statement of compliance with the injury management requirements of the 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981, including the 
development of return to work plans:  
Whilst the Commission has had no Worker’s Compensation or Injury Management 
issues to deal with in 2019/2020 it has remained compliant with the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981, including the development of Return 
to Work plans where required.  

Statement confirming that an assessment of the occupational safety and health 
management system has been completed (within the past five years or sooner 
depending on the risk profile of the agency) using a recognised assessment 
tool:  
A self-evaluation of the Commission’s Occupational Safety and Health management 
system was completed in June 2019 using the Government’s Worksafe Plan and 
Workbook.  

A report of the percentage of agreed actions completed following assessment 
of the occupational safety and health system. 
The Commission has made progress on the three actions identified for improvement 
in June 2019. Two related to staff OSH consultation which have been addressed and 
one to four-wheel driving experience for those required to drive off-road for work 
purposes. This has been addressed by only allowing staff with experience to drive off 
road. 
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Report on Occupational Safety, Health & Injury Management Annual 
performance for 2019/2020 

Actual Results Results against Target 

Measure 
2018/2019 2019/2020 

Target 
2019/2020 

Comment on 
Result 

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) Continuing 
trend of zero 

Lost time injury and/or 
disease incidence rate 

Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) Continuing 
trend of zero 

Lost time injury and/or 
disease  severity rate 

Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) Continuing 
trend of zero 

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work: 

i) within 13 weeks
ii) within 26 weeks

i) Zero (0)
injured
workers

ii) Zero (0)
injured
workers

ii) Zero (0)
injured
workers

iii) Zero (0)
injured
workers

Greater than 
or equal to 
80% return to 
work within 26 
weeks 

Continuing 
trend of zero 

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury 
management 
responsibilities 

100% 100% Greater than 
or equal to 
80% 

Target 
achieved 

Government Building Training Policy 
(Premier’s Circular 2015-02 – Government Building Training Policy) 

The Commission has not held any building and construction or civil engineering 
contracts in 2019/2020. 
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